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Chair’s statement

The past year has undoubtedly been a challenging one for housing 
associations. Yet against a backdrop of significant change, Moat 
has demonstrated adaptability and resolve to deliver exceptional 
results. I am especially proud of our determination to remain 
ambitious about supply, despite the tough conditions.

Since the 2015 General Election, the scope of change seen across 
the affordable housing landscape has been transformational 
in nature and has demanded a marked shift in response from 
providers. Government policy favouring home ownership products, 
whilst simultaneously reducing income from social and affordable 
tenures, has increased market exposure for organisations wishing 
to maintain a strong development programme.

Of the Government’s recent measures, the most impactful has 
been the one per cent reduction per annum in social housing rents 
for four years from April 2016; a reversal of the previous 10 year 
funding settlement. Together with the roll-out of Universal Credit, 
the extension of the Right to Buy, restrictions to child tax credit, 
and the freeze of working age benefits, housing associations face 
a number of cumulative challenges to the stability of their income 
streams.

Housing associations have traditionally drawn strength from 
the reliability of social rent as a stable income source; this has 
historically been the key component upon which they have 
secured borrowing at attractive rates. In response to these 
cumulative challenges Moat has modified its business plan and 
priorities, focussing on a revised development mix, adjusting its 
volume on a short term basis, whilst seeking to improve efficiency 
and effectiveness through innovation and better use of technology.

Rising to the challenge
We are being asked to develop more homes in this new and 
challenging environment and we will need to do things differently 
in order to maximise our development volume. Moat is well placed 
in this respect, already tangibly demonstrating adaptability and 
innovation in 2015-16, with a revised development programme 
that delivered 664 new homes.

Moat’s development plans remain ambitious in the new 
environment. Our aspiration is to deliver 3,000 homes over the 
next 5 years, growing to an annual pipeline of 750 properties by 
2020. We will do this, in the first instance, by being prepared to 
take on more of the risk and reward associated with open market 
activities. In the longer term, our mix of development types will 
continue to evolve, as external pressures demand.

Moat will increase its focus on the provision of low cost home 
ownership products. This is consistent with the Government’s 
direction of travel and funding streams, but importantly, it plays to 

our strength and specialism in this area. In 2015-16, we delivered 
274 homes for low cost home ownership and have an ambition 
to deliver a further 2,000 such homes as part of the 2016-21 
programme.

We are also moving further on operational efficiency, controlling 
costs  and improving our effectiveness across our core activities. 
Moat already has low management costs per unit and rates 
favourably against key benchmarking indicators. However, I 
recognise that we need to constantly look to work more effectively 
and productively. One such area where we continue to improve is 
on the intelligent use of technology – particularly where it can be 
used to support our customers more effectively.

Continued financial strength
Our financial performance gives us a strong position to respond 
to the challenges of the current environment. Moat is rated at the 
upper end of Moody’s-rated English housing associations, with an 
A1 rating confirmed at the end of the 2015-16 financial year. This 
rating reflects our sound and stable financial performance over 
several years, as well as interest cover and operating margins, 
which are among the highest of our rated peers.

Our operating surplus for 2015-16 stood at £45m, representing 
a 17% year on year increase, and our overall surplus for the year 
was £37.9m. Surpluses are reinvested back into the business 
to support our development programme, maintain and improve  
existing homes, as well as providing certain customer services and 
supporting a number of community-strengthening activities.

In 2016-17, we will seek to raise up to an additional £100m of 
funds to support our continued programme of work and to meet 
our ambitious development targets. Our strength of performance 
in 2015-16, provides Moat with the foundation upon which to 
attract significant levels of further investment.

Progressing our ambition
Moat has delivered exceptional results over the past year, 
particularly in the context of a changing external environment. I 
am proud of the resilience and determination shown by Moat, as 
demonstrated by the organisation, teams and individuals. This 
characteristic strength has led to a renewed determination to 
remain ambitious about supply in the face of tough conditions.

Of course, breaking new ground does not mean forgetting our 
roots. We will never turn our back on our social purpose, and as 
important as financial metrics are, our strategic response must 
strike a judicious balance between supply and targeting support 
where it is needed most. I am proud of the efforts taken so far to 
strike this balance.
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Liz McMeikan
Chair

Finally, I’d like to take this opportunity to thank all Moat employees 
for their hard work, dedication and commitment throughout what 
has undoubtedly been a challenging but successful year.
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Homes in management

Non-social housing

Other social housing, including 
equity loan and freehold homes

Low cost home ownership

Housing for  older people/supported

Affordable rent

General needs 8,946

1,251

1,790

5,809

3,329

196

BUSINESS OVERVIEW 
Moat Homes Limited (MHL) is the parent company of the group 
which is branded as ‘Moat’. MHL is a charitable registered 
provider regulated by the Homes and Communities Agency (HCA). 
Details of the companies which comprise Moat can be found in 
note 17.

Moat’s overarching ambition is to bring an end to housing need. 
Despite the difficult external environment, we continue to abide by 
our strong social ethos and are committed to alleviating housing 
need in the areas where we operate. We are keen to see the 
continuation of a viable mechanism for ensuring that low income 
earners are properly housed. Our ambition to end housing need 
is a long-term challenge and is directly linked to our ability to 
continue working collaboratively with a range of partners and 
stakeholders.

Our mission is to be an innovative social business, expert in 
delivering homes and developing communities across the South 
East. We reinvest all financial surpluses to provide additional 
affordable homes and to provide quality estate management 
services which are reliable and offer value for money. By 
concentrating our area of operation in the South East we can 
provide our services more efficiently, delivering value for money.

We own and manage over 20,000 homes providing a range of 
different housing options to suit the needs of our customers: 

Strategic report
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We are development partners with the Homes and Communities 
Agency (HCA) and Greater London Authority (GLA). Following the 
challenges presented to us by the Government’s Summer Budget 
in 2015 we have changed the profile of our development plans 
to be biased towards home ownership through increased shared 
ownership and market sale development. We are confident that 
our strong track record in low cost home ownership provides 
us with the right skills and experience to manage this shift 
successfully. This emphasis on home ownership is intended to 
produce a capability to continue to do an element of sub-market 
rent development, by using cross subsidy from surpluses on 
market related development.

Our commitment as a social landlord goes beyond just providing 
the homes for people to live in, driving us to improve the wider 
communities in which our customers live. We are also continuing 
our work to encourage greater customer self reliance through 
various activities, including our “Moat Promise” incentives 
programme and skills training to improve opportunities for young 
people.  

STRATEGIC PLAN 2016-2020
With the challenges of the present environment, in particular our 
increased emphasis on low cost home ownership and market sale 
products, Moat is in the process of implementing a new plan to 
take the organisation forward. 

The new strategic approach is aimed at transformational changes 
that will unlock the capacity of the business and underpin its 
growth ambition. It is focused on the following four areas:

• Growth – which will ensure the continuation of a strong 
development programme;

• An innovative, commercial business – which will look at the 
development of new products and tenures as a means to 
further growth;

• Easy to do business with – which will focus on simplifying 
our offer and maximising the use of digital technology service 
delivery; and

• A consistent customer experience – which will be heavily 
focused on setting out a clear and consistent customer offer 
which will deliver the right outcomes  and greater efficiency.

The strategic plan will ensure that Moat becomes a more efficient 
and effective business, able to respond to future challenges. 
Implementation of the strategic plan commenced during 2016.

MARKET OVERVIEW

External factors affecting performance
Government
The housing landscape has undergone transformational change 
in 2015-16. Several new Government measures which were 
announced and progressed during 2015, combined with the 
continued implementation of welfare reform, will combine to have 
a significant impact on housing association business plans moving 
forward.

The most impactful Government measure is the one per cent 
reduction of social housing rents, taking effect from 1 April 2016 
and reducing every year until 2019-20. This represents a reversal 
of the previous settlement whereby social rents were to increase 
by CPI plus one per cent each year for 10 years. Supported 
housing, which makes up a relatively small proportion of Moat’s 
overall stock, has been exempted from the one per cent rent cut 
for one year.

The Government is moving forward with its manifesto commitment 
to extend the Right to Buy to housing association tenants. In 
September 2015, the National Housing Federation (NHF) and 
the Government reached agreement on a proposal to implement 
an extended Right to Buy programme on a voluntary basis. 
Under the agreement, there is to be a presumption in favour 
of sale, but associations will have discretion not to sell homes 
under certain circumstances. Housing associations are also to 
be fully compensated by the Government for the cost of the 
discounts offered under the scheme. Prior to national roll-out, the 
programme is being piloted by five housing associations, with an 
evaluation report expected in September 2016.

The ongoing implementation of several welfare reforms is going 
to present Moat with significant challenges. The benefit cap 
reductions to £23,000 in London and £20,000 outside London 
will impact the ability of many residents to pay their rent and will 
continue to discourage the development of larger homes. Direct 
payments to tenants, which is a component of Universal Credit, 
will end automatic rent payments to landlords as the system 
is gradually rolled out. Other measures which will affect many 
residents’ ability to pay their rent include:

• the freeze of working-age benefits for four years from April 
2016;

• changes to child tax credit and the child element of Universal 
Credit, including lowering the thresholds up to which they are 
paid;

• reduction in housing benefit to under 35s;
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• the removal of automatic entitlement to housing support for 
new Universal Credit claims by 18-21 year olds from April 
2017, and;

• limiting support provided to families through tax credits to two 
children post-April 2017.

Whilst these measures will be partially offset by increases in 
personal income tax allowances, the new National Living Wage, 
and potential extra income from the Pay to Stay proposals, the 
overall impact will be adverse. We recognise that this will be a 
difficult time for our residents and will be reviewing the support 
activities which we provide.

From April 2018, Housing Benefit for social tenants will be capped 
in line with Local Housing Allowance (LHA) rates, matching 
conditions in private rental stock. The cap is to apply to all new 
tenancies signed after 1 April 2016. We are currently in the 
process of assessing the impact of this measure on Moat’s stock, 
across all tenures. At this stage, we anticipate the greatest impact 
to be on supported housing, due to the higher management costs 
and service charges resulting from the complexity of the care 
needs of supported tenants. As already highlighted, supported 
housing is a relatively small element of Moat’s business.

The above measures must be seen also in the context of 
a decisive shift towards support for home ownership. The 
Government has committed to delivering 200,000 Starter Homes 
during the current Parliament, giving qualifying first time buyers 
a 20% discount on new build, purpose-built properties. The 
Shared Ownership and Affordable Homes Programme 2016 to 
2021 prospectus reserves a significant majority of its capital grant 
allocation for ownership products, with 135,000 homes for Shared 
Ownership, 10,000 homes for Rent to Buy, and only 8,000 homes 
for supported and older people’s rental accommodation.

Housing associations have or are adapting their business plans 
to reflect the new environment, in which there is very little grant 
available for sub-market rented products. In many cases, this 
means looking at a different volume and mix of development, with 
many associations committing to activities with a higher level of 
market risk such as shared ownership and market sale. Moat is 
currently analysing how new products such as Starter Homes are 
likely to interact with existing ones.

The Government has used the Housing and Planning Act as an 
opportunity to pass a number of deregulatory measures, intending 
to reverse the Office for National Statistics decision to reclassify 
housing associations as public non-financial corporations. Two 
key moves to make this possible are the decision to make both 
the Right to Buy and Pay to Stay measures voluntary for housing 
associations. The deregulatory measures outlined in the Bill should 
prove positive for housing associations, with an intention to give 
boards more control over decision making. 

The Government has also expressed its intention to consult on 
charging housing associations fees for regulation, to offset funding 
for the HCA being cut by 30% over the next four years.

Sector
The creation of a merger code by the NHF indicates that 
the sector is listening to the Government’s interest in sector 
consolidation.  A number of high profile mergers are in progress. 
Key drivers behind this are predominantly the need to achieve 
efficiencies in response to the rent reduction, and an increase in 
the capacity to develop.

Market pressures
Increased costs and shortages of labour and materials in the 
construction sector continue to put additional pressures on 
the capacity of housing associations to develop. We anticipate 
continuing pressures in the construction sector with labour and 
material costs expected to increase above inflation over the next 
year, before stabilising.

The low-grant environment combined with the Government’s wish 
to see housing associations maximising their capacity to deliver 
new homes, is gradually increasing the sector’s market exposure. 
At the same time, new products introduced by the Government, 
such as Starter Homes and Help to Buy equity loans, are 
increasing competition for existing low cost home ownership 
products such as Shared Ownership. 

In the June 2016 referendum, the United Kingdom has voted to 
leave the European Union and there will be a period of uncertainty 
for the United Kingdom economy while negotiations take place. 
Impacts on Moat could include fluctuations in the housing market 
and housing property values, access to funding, value of financial 
instruments, pension fund deficits and changes to welfare reform. 
We will continually be reviewing any impacts and manage them in 
accordance with our corporate objectives.

Strategic report (continued)
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OPERATING REVIEW
DELIVERING HOMES

The year was a very successful one in terms of completed new 
homes and numbers of homes that were started on site. 

New homes starts and practical completions
The operating environment for development continued to be 
challenging this year. Labour and material costs continue to spiral 
and the four year rent cut announced in the summer budget 
severely tested the viability of schemes that included rented 
homes. Despite this we still achieved our own internal targets and 
those set by the HCA and GLA. The table below shows the 664 
handovers in 2015-16 split by tenure. 

In addition to the completions, during the year construction began 
on a further 552 homes – well in excess of our target. This sets 
a firm foundation for our bids through the newly announced HCA 
2016-21 Shared Ownership & Affordable Homes Programme and 
for our future development ambition.

Delivering homes: key performance indicators (KPIs)

Actual 
2015-16

Target 
2015-16

Actual 
2014-15

New homes starts 552 450 301

New build handovers 664 664 641

Unreserved homes: 
more than six months old 1 - 4

Shared ownership sales 
profitability 41% 20% 30%

Tenure Handovers

Affordable rent 268

General needs rent 122

Shared ownership 274

TOTAL 664

9

Sales
We continue to build on our successful delivery of shared 
ownership with 249 first tranche sales in the year (186 in 2015). 
These sales delivered over £25m of sales income and profit 
in excess of £10m – a margin of 41%. By year end only one 
home remained unreserved that was more than six months from 
handover. 

During the year 176 existing shared owners bought more equity 
in their homes (staircasing) and 263 equity loan holders redeemed 
their loans. This generated income of £19.8m (2015: £26.9m), with 
£10.2m (2015: £8.1m) surplus.

As part of our asset management strategy to dispose of stock 
outside of our key areas of operation, we disposed of 72 homes in 
Mole Valley, Surrey, making a surplus of £0.8m.

Surpluses from property sales are utilised to both fund additional 
affordable homes and to improve our existing properties.

Regeneration
During the year we progressed the estate regeneration of Pollards 
Hill in Merton, South West London. A demonstration phase of 
30 homes was completed and a planning application and OJEU 
procurement for the remaining phases were twin-tracked. The 
first phase proper is expected to start in late summer 2016. This 
will involve comprehensive refurbishment of existing homes and 
significant environmental improvements as well as new homes. 
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DELIVERING HOUSING SERVICES
Our strategy is to provide a consistent customer experience. We 
monitor a range of Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) focusing on 
our day to day operations and ensuring that we are providing value 
for money in our service provision. Six of the eight key operating 
performance indicators have performed better than or equivalent 
to the target we set.

Customer satisfaction
In response to declining customer satisfaction during 2014-15 we 
decided to implement an approach which focused our efforts on 
the three areas that we felt employees could directly influence the 
satisfaction figure. These were ensuring that the customer was: 

• given a timescale for the response to the enquiry;
• told who would be dealing with the enquiry; and
• given the contact details of the lead officer.

Whilst it is difficult to attribute the overall improvement in 
satisfaction specifically to these areas we believe they correlate 
with enquiry handling satisfaction, which in turn relates to higher 
overall satisfaction.

Overall customer satisfaction is reported using the 12-month 
rolling average and we are pleased that, as shown opposite, 
overall customer satisfaction has exceeded the previous peak 
towards the end of 2013.

Delivering housing services: key performance indicators (KPIs)

Actual 2015-16 Target 2015-16 Actual 2014-15

Overall satisfaction with services provided 76% 68% 65%

Routine repairs: right first time 97% 95% 98%

Resident satisfaction with routine repairs service 99.5% 90% 99.6%

Current landlords’ gas safety certificates 100% 100% 100%

Current rent gross arrears - eight week rolling average: 
general needs, housing for older people and supported 4.99% 4.99% 5.21%

Current rent gross arrears: shared ownership 2.00% 2.08% 2.27%

Void turnaround time in days: general needs, housing for 
older people and supported 32 21 20

Residents supported into work 38 100 81

Strategic report (continued)

We recognise that where we have leaseholder dissatisfaction this 
has sometimes been related to a lack of technical knowledge 
among Moat staff. We have addressed this by providing targeted 
training to the relevant people in our organisation.

Property maintenance and improvements
Responsive repairs managed through the long term partnering 
contract with Mears again delivered an exceptional service this 
year. Right first time, satisfaction and appointment targets were 
again all exceeded consistently across the year. Through our 
planned works programme under our contract with Keepmoat we 
delivered £4.1m of works replacing 1,554 kitchens, bathrooms, 
doors and windows achieving an overall satisfaction rate of 98% 
and shared savings of £151k. Gas servicing and compliance was 
maintained at 100%. During the year we delivered our first retrofit 
ground source heat solution to a block of apartments, successfully 
securing £250k of National Energy Action funding and hoping to 
achieve further funding through the Renewable Heating Incentive 
for Feed In Tariffs. 

Arrears and financial well-being
We ended the year by achieving our arrears targets. This 
represents a great result for the team who managed to achieve 
this while being heavily involved in the company wide successful 
implementation of the Microsoft Dynamics Customer Relationship 
Management (CRM) system.

The Customer Accounts Team is split into three sections - low 
level arrears, over 4 weeks arrears and customers requiring court 
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action. Every customer in arrears is contacted either by letter, 
text, email, phone or face to face contact. We try to work with the 
customer to collect payment, set up a payment arrangement plan 
or to discuss the terms of the court order. We have reviewed our 
arrears letters and introduced many more pictorial letters making it 
easier for the customer to understand where they are in the arrears 
journey. 

In addition we have four Financial Wellbeing Officers who provide 
a tailored ‘hands on’ approach to signpost to appropriate 
organisations around benefit matters, hardship/food bank 
vouchers, maximising income and referring customers for debt 
management support (Money Advice Plus Services).

We aim to assist customers to sustain their tenancy, but equally 
will enforce legal action where appropriate.  

Void turnaround
Our void turnaround target has been challenging this year due to 
staff and other issues. The team was reorganised in the summer, 
and with a new head having been appointed, the average void of 
42.7 days in August 2015 reduced to 32 days by the end of March 
2016, with an average of 22 over the final 3 months. We expect 
void turnaround to continue to improve.

Residents supported into work
Following the effect on our business plan of the last years summer 
budget we have moved away from direct back to work activity 
with our customers, preferring instead to actively signpost to other 
providers. The actual numbers of customers helped directly back 
into work of 38 reflects activity for the first half of the year, before 
we changed our approach.

DEVELOPING COMMUNITIES
During the year we re-branded our charitable arm, Bourne 
Charity, as Moat Foundation. The teams supporting community 
development activity re-structured with the aim of linking up our 
community and charitable activities under the Moat Foundation 
brand and delivering activities more efficiently. Our community 
development officers are now known as Moat Foundation Officers 
and their work will focus on projects meeting a specific need within 
a local community covering three strands of work - Community 
development (ASB deterrence and thriving communities); Training 
and Development (back to work related initiatives); and Support 
services (services for an aging population). Moat Foundation has 
provided £92k (2015: £88k) to support community initiatives and 
youth projects during the year.

In April 2016 we secured planning permission to convert 33 Cavell 
Way in Sittingbourne into our latest community house. As with 
our successful community houses in Gillingham, Gravesend and 
Ashford, the project will be managed by Word On The Street and 
will provide ‘on the doorstep’ youth provision, adult training, digital 
skills workshops and debt management support.

In April 2016, we were extremely pleased to secure Domestic 
Abuse Housing Alliance (DAHA) accreditation. DAHA is a 
partnership initiative between Gentoo, Standing Together Against 
Domestic Violence (STADV) and Peabody housing associations.  
Their work seeks to improve the way housing associations 
support victims of domestic abuse, ensuring a coordinated and 
consistent approach through partnership working. There are many 
specialist charities and organisations designed to support victims 
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of domestic abuse. This accreditation does not replace their work, 
instead it ensures that when victims of abuse come to Moat’s 
attention, our staff are equipped with the knowledge and skills to 
confidently signpost to these organisations. 

iPads have now been rolled out to all Neighbourhood Housing 
Officers and other front line staff as a means to drive up efficiencies 
in performance whilst out within the communities. During the 
first half of this year we expect an iPad version of the Microsoft 
Dynamics CRM to be implemented which will significantly improve 
the effectiveness of staff in the field.

We continue to work with our customers to help them to help 
themselves. Whilst, we have moved away from direct back to work 
activity with our customers, we continue to signpost individuals 
to organisations with specialist skills to help them back into work 
and our financial well-being team help by referring individuals for 
debt management support. Moat Promise, our star rating scheme, 
continues to be successful in encouraging many customers 
to keep up with their rent payments and compliance with their 
obligations under the tenancy agreement.

Strategic report (continued)
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Value for money

Our value for money (VfM) strategy brings together a number 
of supporting strategies to ensure a coherent and coordinated 
approach across the range of our business activities. Our 
challenge is to continue to balance delivering new homes, 
providing high levels of service for our existing customers, 
improving communities and maintaining financial strength. 
Achieving VfM across our business underpins our ability to do so.

We carry out an annual VfM self assessment which is reviewed 
and approved by the Board. The assessment reviews our 
performance against internal targets, benchmarks against other 
registered providers, highlights ongoing VfM activities and looks 
at where we could improve. The key findings are summarised 
here. A full version of the VfM self assessment for stakeholders 
can be found on-line at moat.co.uk/vfm and elements of VfM are 
incorporated into our annual report to residents which is also on 
our website at moat.co.uk/annual report. 

Last year’s VfM self assessment highlighted some areas we 
needed to improve. Our asset management tool has continued to 
evolve and is regularly used in options appraisals. We developed 
our social value framework producing a report and some of the 
high level findings are summarised below. The two work streams 
we initiated to improve customer satisfaction have led to findings 
being implemented and we achieved our overall customer 
satisfaction target having missed it in the previous year. On 
arrears we achieved our targets having not achieved them all in 
the previous year. 

Making the best use of our assets
Group overall performance

Return on assets: 
key indicators

Actual 
2015-16

Actual 
2014-15

restated for 
FRS 102

Surplus on average net assets 14.8% 8.7%

Return on net fixed assets less unamortised grant received:

Rented 5.8% 5.5%

Shared ownership 9.5% 7.6%

We monitor the high level performance of return on assets by 
comparing the surplus generated each year to its average net 
assets, calculated as surplus for the year of £37.9m and the 
average of the opening and closing net assets of £255.9m. The 
return on net fixed assets less unamortised grant received is also 
monitored for rented and shared ownership properties (shared 
ownership includes first tranche sales). These indicators have been 

chosen as they provide a broad measure of how successful the 
business has been in utilising its assets during the year.

The overall return on assets has improved significantly, partly due 
to the increase in surplus from £20.9m to £37.9m, but also due to 
the fluctuation in the movement on the Cash Flow Hedge Reserve 
which is the mark to market movement on our effective hedges, 
£2.7m adverse in 2015-16 as compared to £22.7m adverse in the 
previous year. 

The small increase in return on rented assets results from higher 
rental income and lower spend on repairs, partially offset by higher 
management costs from additional pension past service deficit 
costs.

The increase in return on shared ownership reflects the enhanced 
values that we have achieved on first tranche sales which delivered 
a margin of 41% compared to a 20% target and 30% in the 
previous year.

Strategic Asset Management 
In May 2015 a new team was created to focus on Strategic Asset 
Management (as opposed to day to day asset management of 
stock including planned works programmes). The new team works 
closely with the Property Services and Neighbourhoods teams 
reviewing and assessing the performance of our assets.  In the 
early months since its formation the main focus of the team has 
been on the Pollards Hill Regeneration, but as we move from 
planning to the delivery phase on that project, more attention is 
now being directed to the team’s wider remit.

The performance of Moat’s assets is assessed proactively 
through our own internally developed Stock Appraisal Model. 
This model uses live data and enables us to assess the relative 
financial performance of our homes in terms of net present value 
(which is also overlaid with a qualitative assessment based on 
Neighbourhood team led insight). The team assess the financial 
performance of our homes, estates and land holdings and provide 
options appraisals to look at ways of improving this performance. 
Options typically fall into three areas – improve, dispose or re-
purpose. 

Alongside this work the team undertakes stock acquisitions/
disposals activity. Moat currently operates in 45 local authorities 
and has categorised each as ‘exit’, ‘growth’ or ‘manage and 
maintain’. It is less cost efficient for Moat to operate in areas where 
it has a low concentration of properties and it is our strategic 
intention to be focused on 30 local authority areas by 2020.

Following a careful appraisal of Moat’s investment in the Stanhope 
PFI, it was sold on 29 February 2016 generating funds of £1.7m. 
Not only was this the most financially beneficial option following 
our appraisal but it also aligned with our purpose to invest in our 
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Value for money (VfM): 
Key performance 
indicators

Actual 
2015-16

Target 
2015-16

Actual 
2014-15
restated

Operating margin: 
all activities 37% 36% 35%

Management cost 
per home: all activities £1,261 £1,130 £1,080

Gearing 30% <35% 30%

Operating margin: 
social housing lettings 41% 41% 40%

Management cost 
per home: social housing 
lettings

£982 £907 £774

Responsive maintenance 
costs per home: general 
needs, housing for older 
people and supported

£712 £711 £724

Bad debts per home £45 £48 £37

Homes per FTE staff 
member 51 49 52

social housing purpose. Moat’s management contract at Stanhope 
is not affected by the sale.

Development
During the year Moat saw the handover of 664 new homes into 
the business. These were a mix of new homes for affordable 
rent and shared ownership. In addition to that construction has 
begun during the year on a further 552 homes. Despite the tough 
operating environment, Moat is committed to maximising its 
development programme, playing its part in meeting housing need 
in its area of operation. 

To ensure all new homes are aligned to Moat’s strategic objectives, 
all developments are scrutinised by the Capital Projects Committee 
prior to being approved. Potential developments are appraised 
using an in-house investment appraisal tool which takes into 
account the long-term cost of funds together with management 
and maintenance costs. These assumptions are discussed and 
approved at least annually by the Finance Committee. A hurdle 
rate of return is set by the Capital Projects Committee and all 
projects must achieve a satisfactory net present value for them 
to be approved. This ensures only schemes which are financially 
viable and sustainable are approved by the business. 

The Capital Projects Committee is chaired by the Chief Executive 
and contains representatives from all areas of the business, 
who provide formal feedback on the schemes proposed by the 
development team. This ensures potential risks with the ongoing 
repairs, service charges or management of new homes can be 
identified before the schemes are approved. This Committee 
is also responsible for monitoring the build costs of new 
developments against their investment appraisals. Investment in 
technology has resulted in an improvement in the efficiency and 
effectiveness of the monitoring of development cash flows. The 
Committee also monitors the programme against our committed 
finance facilities in line with the parameters set by the Board.

In addition to Moat’s internal review, an independent VfM 
statement is prepared by an Employer’s Agent for each new 
development. This provides an additional layer of scrutiny to 
ensure the cost paid for new homes is in line with current market 
values and build costs are at market rates.    

A summary of the approved schemes and their cumulative net 
present value is also presented to Finance Committee to ensure 
there is sufficient oversight by non-executive Board members.  

Key performance indicators 
In the Delivering Housing Services section of this report, we 
reviewed eight key performance indicators (KPIs), six of which 
performed well against target. Commentary on these and the 
other two (void turnaround and residents supported into work) is 
provided in that section. We also monitor a range of KPIs focused 
on VfM.

The only VfM indicators where we did not either improve on last 
year or perform better than/meet our targets were management 
cost per home indicators – for both all activities and social 
housing lettings. These indicators were adversely impacted by the 
movement in the past service deficit cost of £2.3m, following a 
tri-annual valuation of the Social Housing Pension Scheme which 
increased the amount Moat has agreed to pay to fund the deficit. 
This amounted to an additional cost of £126 per unit. 

Financial strength
We continue to focus on ensuring we have the financial strength 
to deliver our ambition and on maintaining our high operating 
margin and lower gearing position to assist when raising additional 
funds for developing new homes. Our operating surplus and total 
surplus for the year both outperformed target, as did our gearing. 
Our financial targets for 2016-17 are based on the detailed budget 
which has been approved by the Finance Committee and the 
Board.

Procurement
We are a member of two procurement consortia, have a number 
of framework agreements with panels of service providers, and 
we involve the Procurement team in all tenders. There were 
no large scale contracts maturing during the financial year and 
consequently the procurement team achieved only £200k of 
savings. We have some large tenders due for renewal next year, 

Value for money (continued)
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including legal service, planned works, asbestos, and electrical 
inspection and re-wires which we expect to deliver savings from 
March 2017 onwards. The specification for each tender will be 
scrutinised to ensure the service we provide to the customer 
delivers value for money.

Benchmarking
We use information published by Moody’s, “English Housing 
Associations – 2015 Results”, to compare ourselves with 43 other 
registered providers for which it provides a credit rating.  Moat is 
rated A1 by Moody’s, along with 14 others, with only three housing 
associations having a higher Moody’s rating. Whilst the Moody’s 
rating does not provide a direct opinion on VfM, it demonstrates 
Moody’s positive opinion of Moat’s strong financial performance, 
which in turn leads to reduced funding costs on new borrowings. 

We carry out an annual review comparing ourselves to ten other 
registered providers operating within the South East of England by 
extracting data from their financial statements. By using the same 
peer group and the same performance indicators each year we 
are able to compare our relative performance on an ongoing basis. 
Our performance in 2015-16 was comparable to previous years 
with our relative position changing little and in the top half of the 
table.

In June 2016 the HCA published ‘Delivering better value for 
money: Understanding differences in unit costs’. Our headline 
social housing cost per unit fell well within the best performing 
quartile of their data which was derived from the Global Accounts 
data of the sector. Whilst there may be many different valid 
reasons for differences in social housing costs per unit between 
different organisations, this does provide further evidence that we 
compare well to other organisations.

Social value
We have developed a measurable social value framework which 
will help to ensure value for money is being achieved in pursuit of 
our social objectives as well as in the delivery of our new homes 
programme. 

We recognise that any method for measuring the additional 
value it delivers to society must be consistent and verifiable and 
the benefit must be proportionate to the amount of additional 
resources required. Our work has, therefore, focused on data 
already collected rather than attempting to measure secondary 
outcomes such as in the area of health and education, which 
would have required the generation and assessment of extensive 
additional data.

Our assessment under the initial framework estimates that the 
social value generated in 2014-15 was £53.4m for a capital grant 
input of £13.5m, with recycled capital grants treated as if it were 

new grant. Moat has, therefore, delivered a social benefit of £3.95 
for every £1 of public funding it has been in receipt of.

Moat was involved in the development of 221 new shared 
ownership homes in 2014-15 and, where it has been possible 
to put a monetary value on these outcomes, generated £24.9m 
in social value, accounting for 47% of the overall social value 
generated by Moat in that year.

A large share of this falls directly to households (£5.7m) resulting 
from greater long term financial security (eg. households benefit 
largely due to the ability to build up equity in their home). There are 
also benefits/ savings to the public purse (£3.1m) due to higher tax 
revenues from construction and, as social/affordable rented homes 
are freed up by existing tenants moving into shared ownership, 
allowing Moat to house people living in private rented stock or 
temporary accommodation.

This represents our first attempt at measuring our social value 
contribution using actual data, and there is a great deal of 
additional information underpinning the detail of this work, far 
beyond the remit of the Value for Money Self Assessment. 

Our communities
As discussed in the developing communities section we have 
a number of different ways in which we provide support for the 
communities in which we work. Moat invests approximately £1.0m 
each year in customer engagement and social projects which 
go above and beyond the mandatory requirements of registered 
providers. The performance of all Moat Foundation initiatives 
is reviewed at each meeting by the Trustees. This includes the 
attendance, activities and feedback at community hubs and other 
activities like youth events and work experience.

Moat Promise
The Moat Promise was developed to encourage and reward high 
standards of personal behaviour, whilst promoting independence 
and personal responsibility with our rented customers. It has 
become a known brand across the housing sector, leading the 
way in setting standards to influence customer behaviour in 
relation to tenancy breaches.

The service is designed to tackle low level rent arrears, encourage 
a payment culture ahead of the introduction of welfare reform and 
other government changes, drive personal accountability and give 
our Neighbourhoods teams a tool to help them improve homes 
and communities.

Fuel efficiency
Over the past four years we have targeted improving energy 
efficiency, allocating a budget of £500,000 per annum for those 
residents who would benefit most. Much of this has been spent on 
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Financial Target

Operating margin 34%

Interest cover 2.2

Management cost per home £1,086

Gearing <35%

Delivering homes Target

New homes starts 450

New build completions 465

Operational Target

Overall satisfaction with services provided 75%

Routine repairs: right first time 95%

Current tenant gross arrears: 8wk rolling av 4.95%

Void turnaround in days 21

fuel switching from electric storage heaters to gas or by installing 
air source heat pumps.

We have now secured funding to deliver our first Energiesprong 
pilot. This is a Dutch model of retrofitting existing properties which 
follows the basic principle that the works are ultimately paid for by 
the reduction in domestic energy bills delivered by the upgrade. 
The work comprises a fully integrated refurbishment package for 
our social rented properties, including external wall insulation, 
roofing and renewables with a 30-year guarantee of ‘net zero 
energy’ usage and no upfront costs.

Resident Involvement
Our Customer Insight and Engagement teams actively seek 
feedback from residents through surveys and other engagement 
forums on quality of service provision and value for money.

Moat’s Residents’ Scrutiny Panel consists of seven residents 
and an independent chair. Each year the panel selects a number 
of areas to investigate and report directly to the Board with 
its findings and recommendations. During the year the panel 
investigated and reported on resident involvement strategy, arrears 
prevention and collection, and cleaning and gardening services.

Key areas for improvement
We look to deliver on-going improvements in value for money for 
our customers, our communities and our stakeholders. 

Our strategic plan work has commenced with putting in place the 
programme resource to manage the implementation and two work 
streams:

• A review of third party spend. We are beginning this exercise 
with repairs and both long term and planned maintenance 
which together represent the largest area of spend each 
year outside of development activity. This will cover a review 
of service levels, process and a consolidation of suppliers/
contracts which will reduce overall costs to Moat. We expect 
to review other areas of significant third party spend, including 
aspects of ancillary development spend and professional 
services. 

• A strategic resource allocation review. We are beginning a 
priority based budget exercise which will highlight where 
resources need to be deployed to align our investment and 
operating decisions more closely with our five year strategic 
roadmap. This process will inevitably require us to make 
some difficult choices and trade offs.

Further work streams will follow, in particular, we are in the early 
stages of planning our digital strategy and are talking to a number 
of potential delivery partners about our aims. 

Value for money (continued)

Targets for 2016-17
Our targets for next year and beyond are documented in our 
detailed budget and strategic plan. Our key targets include:
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Our financial results for 2015-16 show our continuing financial strength:

2015-16 2014-15
restated

2014-15 2013-14 2012-13 2011-12

Turnover £m 120.7 111.3 107.1 96.8 92.6 86.7

Operating costs £m (75.7) (72.7) (70.0) (61.3) (59.9) (58.5)

Operating surplus £m 45.0 38.6 37.1 35.6 32.7 28.2

Gain on disposal of fixed assets £m 12.6 8.8 8.9 4.8 3.5 10.7

Gain on disposal of investments £m 2.0 - - - - -

Movement in fair values £m (0.8) (6.8) - - - -

Net interest costs £m (20.6) (19.5) (19.3) (16.6) (17.5) (16.0)

Taxation £m (0.4) (0.2) (0.2) - - -

Surplus for the year £m 37.9 20.9 26.6 23.8 18.7 22.9

Operating margin 37% 35% 35% 37% 35% 33%

Property cost £m 1,365 1,304 1,308 1,235 1,149 1,085

Total debt £m 432 409 409 382 346 329

Cash balances £m 22 21 21 32 22 21

Financial review

Our continuing financial strength is fundamental in enabling us to 
invest to achieve our ambitions. 

Moat has prepared these financial statements in accordance with 
FRS 102, Housing SORP 2014 (Statement of Recommended 
Practice for registered social housing providers) and ‘The 
Accounting Direction for Private Registered Providers of Social 
Housing from April 2015’. The 2014-15 results have been restated 
and an explanation of how the transition to FRS 102 has affected 
the financial position and financial performance is provided in note 
35.

The summary below shows 2015-16 and 2014-15 results under 
the new requirements. Prior year periods have not been restated 
and the table also shows 2014-15 and earlier periods prior to 
adoption of FRS 102 to assist comparability.

Our operating margin improved to 37% reflecting an 8% increase 
in turnover while containing the increase in operating costs.

The operating surplus of £45.0m (2015 restated: £38.6m) 
continued to improve over previous years. It is analysed by 
business area in Note 3 to the financial statements and key 
reasons for this improvement include:

• The surplus on social housing lettings is £38.1m (2015 
restated: £34.6m), which represents 85% of the overall 

operating surplus. While turnover in this area grew by £6.4m, 
related operating costs only rose by £3.0m:

• Management costs rose by £3.9m to £17.4m (2015 
restated: £13.5m). This primarily reflects the one-off 
effect of booking a past deficit contribution for the 
Social Housing Pension Scheme of £2.3m following 
the 30 September 2014 valuation results. This reflects 
payments that are required to be made over 10 years to 
2026.

• Spend on repairs and maintenance of £20.3m (2015 
restated: £22.5m) reduced by £2.2m which reflects 
a higher level of planned spend in the previous year 
on larger programmes of cyclical re-decoration and 
replacement of kitchens, bathrooms, windows and 
doors. £6.2m (2015: £6.3m) of these costs have been 
capitalised to fixed assets which is a similar level to the 
previous year.

• Depreciation costs continue to rise, by £1.1m in the 
year, due to increasing housing property units from 
our new developments and works capitalised from our 
replacement programme.

• Our impairment review, including a full review of rented 
properties following the impairment trigger resulting from 
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Financial review (continued)

the 1% reduction in rental income in each of the next 4 
years, resulted in a net reversal of £0.4m (2015: £0.5m 
cost) as the values of properties previously impaired 
improved.

• The surplus on shared ownership property sales (initial 
portion of the home sold) of £10.2m (2015: £4.9m) is 22.6% 
of the operating surplus, up from 13% last year. With an 
increase of 63 units sold on the previous year (249 compared 
to 186 in 2015), together with a significantly better margin at 
41% (2015: 30%) reflecting very high values achieved, this 
represents a very strong performance.

• Other social housing activities include contracted income 
from housing management contract for pfi (private finance 
initiative) homes at Stanhope, the non-capitalised costs of 
our development activity and £0.7m for the pilot phase of 
our regeneration project at Pollards Hill.

• Non social housing activities made a surplus of £0.5m 
(2015 restated: £1.4m). The prior year included the receipt 
of a £0.8m one off overage payment, and this year we 
recovered £0.5m from releasing an equity charge on an old 
development scheme.  Whilst we have a small programme of 
open market sales development in progress, there were no 
completions during the year (2015: surplus of £0.5m)

Our asset sale surplus of £12.6m (2015: £8.8m) was an increase 
of £3.8m on the previous year reflecting strong staircasings and 
redemptions activity and the profit on disposal of Hazlemere and 
Waterfields stock of 72 homes. 

The surplus on sales of investments of £2m included the sale 
of our investment in Chrysalis, the private finance initiative at 
Stanhope, which generated a surplus of £1.7m.

Net interest costs increased by £1.0m to £20.6m (2015 restated: 
£19.5m) reflecting an increase in average borrowings over the year 
supporting our development programme.

The adverse movement on fair value of financial instruments of 
£0.8m (2015 restated: £7.2m adverse) is the change in the mark 
to market value of interest rate swaps which are not treated as 
hedging instruments.

The surplus for the year of £37.9m is an increase of £17m, 81% 
over the restated 2015 surplus of £20.9m.

In other comprehensive income, the movement in fair value of our 
interest rate swaps which are accounted for as hedging our loan 
portfolio was £2.7m adverse, a reduction of 88% from £22.7m 
adverse in 2015.

Gearing remained at 30% but as we continue our development 
programme, receiving lower levels of grant, we will see a gradual 
increase in gearing.

The cost of our housing properties has increased to £1.4bn 
(2015: £1.3bn).

TREASURY REVIEW
Our Treasury Policy is designed to ensure sufficient liquidity to 
cover the cash requirement for committed development projects, 
sufficient security for additional borrowing requirements, a risk-
averse approach to investments and that loan covenants are not 
breached. 

Our principal bank loan covenants are an interest cover covenant 
and a gearing covenant (based on borrowing as a percentage of 
property costs). The only requirement for our public bond issue is 
the maintenance of the required asset cover. Loan covenants are 
set at borrowing entity level and all were complied with during the 
year.

To manage interest rate risk, our hedging strategy sets limits for 
minimum levels of fixed and floating debt. We aim to fix the interest 
rate on between 60% - 90% of our debt.

Cash flows
The statement of cash flows is on page 41. The statement shows 
the high level of capital spend on housing properties at £96m 
(2015: £88m) and the low level of grants received £4.4m (2015: 
£3.7m). The outflow on capital expenditure has been met by sales 
proceeds from property sales, an inflow of cash from operating 
activities and additional financing. 

Current liquidity
Borrowings at the year end were £432m (2015: £409m), and 
there were undrawn facilities of £88m (2015: £112m). This debt 
is mostly borrowed from banks and building societies in the UK 
as well as from the capital markets through bond issuance. All 
loans are secured by first fixed charges over housing properties. 
The main factor affecting the amount and timing of borrowing is 
the pace of the development programme and we will be seeking 
to raise up to an additional £100m of funds during 2016-17 to 
support this programme. 

Cash surpluses are invested in highly-rated, approved, UK-
regulated institutions. We borrow and lend only in sterling, so we 
have no currency risk. Re-financing risk is managed by ensuring a 
minimal amount of the borrowing portfolio is due to be repaid over 
the next five years.
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The graph shows the proportion of our debt that 
was fixed over the past five years
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Repayment profile of borrowings

Moat currently holds £15m of strategic investments to mitigate against disruption in borrowing against its committed loan facilities. 
The money is invested in instant access, AAA rated money market funds.
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One of the Board’s primary responsibilities is to ensure that we 
are effectively and efficiently run over the long term to achieve our 
ambition of bringing an end to housing need. We believe that this 
can only be achieved if our activities are supported by appropriate 
governance processes.

The Board has adopted all relevant aspects of the UK Corporate 
Governance Code. We have applied the main principles of the 
Code and complied with its detailed provisions in as much as they 
can reasonably be expected to apply to a registered provider with 
charitable objectives. The areas of non-compliance are:

• C.1.3 - We do not produce half-yearly financial statements, 
not required by HCA; and

• E.1, E1.1, E1.2 - Requirements in relation to dialogue 
with shareholders who are not non-executives. Of our 13 
shareholders, 8 are non-executives and all 13 have equal 
shareholdings.

The Board has also adopted the National Housing Federation 
Code on Excellence in Service Delivery and Accountability as its 
governing code on accountability.

The HCA completed an In Depth Assessment of Moat in June 
2016, looking at how Moat is run with particular regard to our 
viability and governance. This resulted in Moat maintaining its 
G1V1 status.

We are governed by a Board comprised of non-executive 
members and executives. Board member details are set out on 
page 30. At the date of approving these financial statements, 
due to timing of appointments, the Board consisted of 10 non-
executives and 3 executives. 

Board members are appointed for specified terms and the Board 
undertakes an annual review of its performance both collectively 
and as individuals in meetings with the Chair which identify areas 
requiring further attention. This year the Board Effectiveness review 
was undertaken with the help of external advisors. Recruitment 
of non-executive Board members is mainly through external 
recruitment taking into account the skill set of the Board. Board 
composition is also monitored against Moat’s Equality and 
Diversity Policy.  

The Board delegates some of its responsibilities to the executive 
team, listed on page 30 and Committees. There are five 
Committees each with a group wide remit with clear terms of 
reference and delegated authority as detailed below. Committee 
members and their attendance at meetings are listed on page 31. 
Detailed Terms of Reference, which are reviewed annually, for each 
Committee and the Board’s reserved matters can be accessed 
on-line at moat.co.uk/governance.

Governance

The Audit Committee
The Audit Committee oversees the internal and external audit 
function, deals with risk management and internal control issues 
and oversees external financial reporting. 

The Finance Committee
The Finance Committee is responsible for monitoring and steering 
Moat’s key finance, funding and investment activities, and also 
monitors our development activity.

The Customer and Communities Committee 
The Customer and Communities Committee is responsible for 
overseeing the delivery of great service for Moat customers. 
The Committee reviews analysis of business intelligence driven 
data and customer feedback to identify trends and help the 
development and implementation of customer focused solutions. 
The Committee approves appraisals of significant community 
initiatives presented via Moat Foundation and oversees the Moat 
People Strategy.

The Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee is responsible for reviewing the 
remuneration of the Chief Executive, senior management and the 
remuneration of the non-executive directors.

The Governance and Nominations Committee
The Governance and Nomination Committee reviews Board 
and Committee membership and leads the process for Board 
appointments, making recommendations to the Board, for its 
approval. 
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All risks are managed effectively with an acceptable level of 
residual risk to the business. Under Moat’s Risk Strategy and 
Management Framework operational risks are identified and 
managed by Moat’s management team. During 2015-16 Moat’s 
Strategic Risk Register was reviewed at every Audit Committee 
meeting and was reviewed by the Board. The risks currently in this 
register are listed below:

• Exposure to falling house prices, particularly in market sale 
and shared ownership units.

• Reduced availability of credit impacting on the ability to sell 
shared ownership products.

• Housing benefits changes causing higher tenant debt.

• Reduction in the Benefit cap.

• Failure of safety management resulting in resident injuries or 
fatalities and adverse publicity.

• Systemic risks in the banking sector impacting on Moat’s 
ability to access invested funds and/or committed funding.

• Loss of Information Systems affecting Moat’s ability to 
operate and damaging Moat’s reputation.

• Potential extension of Right to Buy to housing association 
tenants.

• No new grant made available for development and the 
requirement to pay back RCG.

• Maintenance of Financial Covenants.

• The uncertain future of s106 planning gain to deliver 
affordable rented and shared ownership homes.

• Severe breach of Data Protection.

The first four risks listed above have the highest risk ratings. 
We robustly mitigate and monitor the different aspects of each 
strategic risk. Some of the mitigating actions taken with respect to 
the top four risks are detailed below. 

Exposure to falling house prices, particularly in 
market sale and shared ownership units 
We mitigate this risk by taking a conservative approach to 
valuations/first tranche share levels in investment appraisals and 
values are updated three monthly to ensure we have a clear view 
of our exposure on all projects in contract. Data on all potential 
sales for the year is kept under continuous review including the 
likely surplus/deficit on first tranche sales for all homes to be sold 
in the year. 

All projects with an element of outright sale are approved by 
the MHG Board. We are setting up a ring-fenced commercial 
subsidiary for development of open market sale. 

Reduced availability of credit impacting on the 
ability to sell shared ownership products
Over the last few years we have mitigated this risk by marketing 
the majority of new homes six months before handover and 
maintaining lists of interested applicants before the scheme is 
launched. We engage regularly in direct discussions with mortgage 
providers as well as Independent Financial Advisors on our panel. 
This helps us monitor mortgage lending trends and any emerging 
policy changes. We ensure our marketing literature contains clear 
information about the level of savings that purchasers require. 

Housing benefits changes cause higher tenant debt
There have been substantial changes to the benefits system over 
the last 18 months and further substantive changes are planned 
in the next year. In response to the proposed changes, we have 
improved rent collection protocols and resources. Key risk groups, 
identified through profiling, are closely monitored. We have 
engaged with local advice and support agencies to establish a 
resource network for residents in addition to the increased support 
resource provided by ourselves. 

Reduction in Benefit cap 
To help with mitigation planning, our long term financial planning 
reviews now routinely model various sensitivities of the benefits 
cap and other reforms. Our Rent Policy is reviewed annually 
and an affordability benchmark is considered in determining 
maximum rents charged. In addition, we are undertaking further 
work to model the impact of the changes on our customers and 
this will help us in terms of informing what we build, where we 
focus activity and at what rent levels. Work has been completed 
on an affordability assessment for new residents and this was 
implemented from April 2016. There is also an active dialogue with 
nominating LAs with a view to us not accepting applicants who we 
believe cannot afford the housing costs. 

Risks
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Report of the Audit Committee

Role
The Board delegates certain of its duties and responsibilities and 
powers to the Audit Committee, so that these can receive suitably 
focused attention. Principally its purpose is to ensure, on behalf of 
the Board, that financial reporting, the audit process and systems 
of internal control and risk management are appropriate and 
effective across all parts of Moat. 

The Audit Committee meets its responsibilities by receiving 
assurances from the Executive Team and other senior managers 
of Moat, receiving and reviewing reports on risk management and 
internal control procedures, and directing and receiving reports 
from the internal and external auditors. The Executive Director: 
Finance and Corporate Services presents the annual financial 
statements which the Committee reviews and scrutinises through 
questioning the external auditors and management.

Composition
The Audit Committee comprises three non-executive directors as 
shown on page 31 together with their attendance record.  

In addition to the formal members of the Committee, the following 
are invited to attend on a regular basis:

• Chief Executive
• Executive Director: Finance and Corporate Services 

and Company Secretary
• Director of Accounting Services
• Director of Corporate Finance and Risk
• External and Internal Audit representatives

Other occasional attendees included the other Executive Directors 
and the Chair. 

Meetings and activities during the year
Four Audit Committee meetings were held during the financial 
year. At each meeting the following matters were considered/
reviewed:

• Strategic Risk map – discussions with management on 
any new risks which need to be added and changes in the 
importance of existing risks including any which can be 
removed. Moat’s current strategic risks are shown in the 
previous section.

• Internal audit reports – review of the results of any audits 
carried out by internal audit and discussion with management 
about actions planned to deal with any issues raised.

• Internal audit monitoring report – review of performance of 
internal audit in completing the agreed audit programme and 
management performance as regards actions from previous 
audits.

• Fraud/whistleblowing and benefits and payments registers – 
any new issues and the necessary actions are discussed.

Other key matters considered are shown below:

May 2015

• Review of accounting policies
• Review of Standing Orders and Terms of Reference
• Annual review of Key Policies and Procedures
• Review of Moat’s Disaster Recovery and Business 

Continuity Plans
• Review of the results of the GLA compliance audit
• Review of the results of the HCA compliance audit 
• Anti money laundering policy review
• Review of compliance with UK Corporate Governance Code 
• Update Report – Progress with Asset & Liabilities Registers.

July 2015
• Annual review of internal controls
• Review of key risks of misstatements in the financial 

statements 2014/15 
• Consideration of the report from the external auditors 

regarding their audit findings in respect of the annual results
• Review of the draft Letter of Representation to the external 

auditors
• Review of the draft Financial Statements for Group and 

subsidiaries for 2014-15
• Review of internal auditors annual report
• Private meeting with the external and internal auditors (no 

executives present)
• Report on Tenancy Fraud (sub-letting) 
• Update Report – Progress with Asset & Liabilities Registers.

November 2015
• Update Report - British Safety Council 5 Star Occupation 

Health and Safety Audit 2014 
• Annual review of risk management framework
• Review of the effectiveness of external and internal audit 

provision
• Review of whistleblowing, anti-fraud and bribery policies and 

the fraud response plan
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• Annual review of insurance renewal terms 
• Update Report – Progress with Asset & Liabilities Registers
• FRS102 training – based on 2014-15 restated comparatives.

January 2016

• Review of Internal Audit Assessment and Plan for 2016-17
• Review of External Audit plan for 2015-16
• Health & Safety report (Verbal update)
• Update Report – Progress with Asset & Liabilities Registers 

(including an additional audit report on progress from PwC)

Significant issues considered by the 
Audit Committee
Significant issues were discussed with management and KPMG 
in January when the Committee reviewed KPMG’s Audit Plan 
and at the conclusion of the audit when the financial statements 
were reviewed in July 2016. After the discussions with both 
management and the external auditor (KPMG), the Committee 
determined that the key risk of material misstatement to the 
Group’s financial statements results from the valuation of housing 
properties following the government decision that rents will be 
reduced by 1% for each of the next four years. 

Impairment review
Management explained that the reduction of rents had triggered 
a full impairment review of the rented stock portfolio as required 
by FRS 102. They explained the process followed (see page 46) 
to review the rented portfolio, including schemes in development. 
The review resulted in the impairment of one scheme as a result 
of the reduction of future rent and a cost overrun. An analysis of 
the actual impairments made was brought to the Committee for 
discussion.

KPMG explained their audit procedures to test management’s 
impairment assessment.

The Committee questioned management and KPMG on the work 
done and was satisfied that there was no material misstatement in 
terms of impairment requirements in the financial statements.

Revenue recognition, including fraud risk
Management reported to Committee that they were not aware 
of any material misstatements in the recognition of income and 
that all known fraud issues had been reported to the Committee 
at each of its meetings. KPMG detailed the audit work that had 
been carried out as regards revenue recognition, in particular rental 
income and income from property sales. KPMG had also been 
alert to indications of fraud while carrying out its audit work.

After reviewing the presentations and reports from management 
and consulting where necessary, with KPMG, the Committee 
was satisfied that there was no material misstatement in terms of 
revenue recognition or fraud. The Committee also took confidence 
from the review of management accounts by the Finance 
Committee at each of its meetings.

Risk of management override of controls
KPMG explained that the risk of management override of controls 
was highlighted as management is typically in a unique position to 
perpetrate frauds because of its ability to manipulate accounting 
records and override controls but that it had not identified any 
additional risks of management override relating to Moat. They 
explained the work carried out in terms of testing and substantive 
procedures, including over journal entries, accounting estimates 
and significant transactions outside the normal course of business. 
Management confirmed that it had not overridden controls.

The Committee questioned management and KPMG on the work 
done and the control process and was satisfied that there was 
no material misstatement resulting from overriding controls in the 
financial statements.

Independent Assurances
External Audit
The external auditors for the year ended 31 March 2016 were 
KPMG LLP. They were appointed by the Group in November 
2010, following a market test conducted by the Audit Committee.  
The annual fee for the external audit service was approved by the 
Committee during the year and its review of the non-audit services 
provided by them showed that they related to tax compliance and 
tax advice and were provided by a different department within 
KPMG. KPMG also confirmed the independence of the different 
services. 

Internal Audit
Internal audit services for the year were provided by Price 
Waterhouse Coopers (PwC), who were appointed in 2014 
following a tendering exercise conducted by the Audit Committee. 
PwC were appointed on an annual contract basis. PwC also 
assisted Moat with a strategic review of the business for which 
they received £105k in the year.
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PwC adopt a risk-based approach to their audits. The audits carried out during the year and the associated levels of 
assurance provided to the Audit Committee were as follows:

Review Status Report 
classification

Data Protection Final report issued High risk

SLT Quarterly Sign-Off Final report issued Medium risk

Major and Minor Works Final report issued Medium risk

Service Charges Final report issued Low risk

Investment Appraisal Final report issued Low risk

Key Financial Controls Final report issued Low risk

Voids Final report issued Low risk

Treasury Management Final report issued Low risk

Internal Audit resource continues to be directed purposely towards 
areas where management, in consultation with PwC, is concerned 
the controls might be weak or failing. In depth end-to-end, 
cross-functional reviews are undertaken to ensure processes 
are considered in their entirety. This is possible because of the 
assurance PwC gains from a “Senior Leadership Team Quarterly 
Sign Off” process which is subject to annual audit by PwC. This 
robust, departmental, quarterly internal assurance process covers 
a wide range of operational risks and associated controls.

In addition to the scheduled internal audit programme, PwC 
undertook a specific review in January 2016, of the work being 
undertaken in respect of the creation of asset and liability registers, 
in compliance with the Governance and Financial Viability 
Standard. This review assured the Committee that the approach 
being taken should ensure that, as required by the HCA, the 
registers contain sufficient information to enable a potential buyer 
to accurately price the value of the business. Detailed asset and 
liability registers are in place, although further work is now being 
undertaken to electronically link documents to make the process 
of reviewing associated documents more efficient.

As the internal audits are targeted at areas of possible weaknesses 
a higher level of medium/high findings might be expected.

The one high recommendation ‘Data Protection’ is recognised as 
a potential area of concern. This will be subject to further scrutiny 
within the 2016-17 audit programme and has been added to the 
Strategic Risk Register, monitored by the Executive Team monthly 
and the Audit Committee at every meeting. All staff completed 
Data Protection Training in February 2016.

The medium risk finding on the SLT quarterly return audit was not 
unexpected and reflects the impact of a number of staff changes 
during the year, within the senior leadership team. Significant work 
to improve has been undertaken in this area since the audit was 
conducted by PwC.

PwC has undertaken a follow-up review of prior findings and 
Executive Directors and other Moat officials attended committee 
meetings to provide explanation as appropriate.  It was pleasing to 
note the continued positive track record in keeping the number of 
outstanding action points to a minimum.

Report of the Audit Committee (continued)
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Summary and Conclusion
The Audit Committee has examined the manner in which the 
Board and management ensure and monitor the adequacy of the 
nature, extent and effectiveness of internal control systems, and 
has concluded that sufficient reviews of the risk management and 
internal control arrangements are in place. These arrangements 
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to 
achieve business objectives and can only provide reasonable, not 
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Committee is satisfied that its own report and those of the 
Internal and External Auditors cover all necessary matters and 
are supported by appropriate evidence to provide reasonable 
assurance to the Board on the accuracy and operations of internal 
controls, both operational and financial reporting controls, and that 
these are incorporated into normal governance procedures.

Gerry McCormack

Audit Committee Chair 
21 July 2016
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Directors’ report

The directors present their annual report on the affairs of the 
Group together with the financial statements and auditor’s report, 
for the year ended 31 March 2016.

Principal activities 
MHL is a registered provider of social housing which is regulated 
by the Homes and Communities Agency (HCA). The activities of 
MHL and its subsidiaries (see note 17) have been detailed in the 
Strategic Report.

Business review
Details of Moat’s performance for the year and its future plans 
are set out in the Strategic Report and form part of this report by 
cross-reference. 

Transition to FRS 102
This is the first year the financial statements have been 
prepared under FRS 102, including the restatement of 2014-15 
comparatives. An explanation of how the transition has affected 
the financial position and financial performance is provided in 
note 35.

Post year end events
On 23 June 2016, the results of the European Union Referendum 
voted for the United Kingdom to leave the European Union. This 
result creates uncertainty for the United Kingdom economy which 
may impact on:
• the housing market, value of housing properties, sales values
• pension fund deficits
• fair value of derivatives
• access to funding.

It is likely there will be a protracted period of negotiation that 
may take at least two years. Due to the uncertainty and timing of 
negotiations, it is not possible to estimate the financial impact of 
this event.

Reserves
Moat’s year end reserves for 2016 amounted to £273.6m 
(2015 restated: £238.3m), including a cash flow hedge of £53.2m 
(2015 restated: £50.5m).

Board members and executive officers
The Board and the Executive Team are set out on page 30. The 
Board members are drawn from a wide background bringing 
together professional and commercial experience. The Executive 
officers hold no interest in Moat’s shares and act as executives 
within the authority delegated by the Board.

UK Corporate Governance Code
The Board reviewed its practices against the UK Corporate 
Governance Code and ensured that it has applied the main 
principles of the Code and complied with its detailed provisions. 
The Governance section in the Strategic Report contains the 
required disclosures. 

Value for money (VfM)
The Board is responsible for ensuring compliance with the VfM 
standard. The Board has reviewed and approved the VfM section 
of the Strategic Report and Moat’s annual self-assessment report 
to its stakeholders and customers, which can be found on-line at 
moat.co.uk/vfm. 

Transparency
Moat is committed to being open with its residents, stakeholders 
and the public as to how it spends its money and manages its 
business and publishes additional information on-line at moat.
co.uk.

Going Concern 
After making enquiries and reviewing the financial plan, the Board 
has a reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate 
resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable 
future. For this reason, it continues to adopt the going concern 
basis in the financial statements.

Viability Statement 
As required by the provisions of the UK Corporate Governance 
Code, the Board has undertaken an assessment of the future 
prospects of Moat taking account of its current position and 
principal risks. This assessment was made using the Moat’s 
core business processes, including the following:

Long Term Plan (LTP) – the Board reviews the LTP each year as 
part of its strategy review process. The LTP process includes 
detailed stress testing which involves flexing a number of the main 
assumptions underlying the forecast both individually and together 
under particular scenarios.

Risk management – as set out in the Risk section of the Strategic 
Report, Moat has a structured approach to the management of 
risk and the principal risks identified are reviewed regularly by the 
Board.

Liquidity – based on the output of the LTP and regular 
re-forecasting of cash flows the Board regularly reviews an analysis 
looking at the forecast working capital requirements, cash flow, 
committed borrowing and other facilities available to Moat.

26



Moat Homes Limited - Financial Statements 2016

In undertaking this review a period of 3 years has been selected. 
For the initial year of this three year period there is a greater level 
of certainty because detailed annual budgets are prepared and 
regularly re-forecast. Quarterly cash-flow forecasts are reviewed by 
the Board covering a rolling 3 year period, and are used to ensure 
sufficient facilities are in place. The largest single area of spend 
is the development programme and the bulk of the committed 
development programme completes within a 2 year timeframe. 
Whilst development spend and required facilities are planned 
over a longer term than three years, the period chosen ensures 
that Moat is viable beyond its usual development commitment 
timeframe.

On the basis of this and other matters considered and reviewed by 
the Board during the year, the Board has reasonable expectations 
that Moat will be able to continue in operation and meet its 
liabilities as they fall due over the 3 year period used for the 
assessment.

Employees
Moat’s strength comes from its people, their ability to see 
the bigger picture and collectively to do the right thing. Their 
contribution to its work enables it to fulfil its objectives and its 
commitment to customers. 

Moat places considerable value on the involvement of its 
employees and has continued to keep them informed on matters 
affecting them as employees and on the various factors affecting 
the performance of the Group. This is achieved through formal and 
informal meetings and publications like “Moat in Brief”. Employee 
representatives are consulted regularly through the Employee 
Forum on a wide range of matters affecting their current and future 
interests.

Moat’s recruitment and employment policies reflect a commitment 
to equality of opportunity and delivering diversity.

Slavery and Human Trafficking 
Moat is fully committed to combating slavery and human 
trafficking. As part of our initiative to identify and mitigate risk 
during procurement we have implemented and are enforcing, 
effective systems and controls. To further embed a high level of 
understanding of the risks of modern slavery, we intend to develop 
an information campaign to help relevant staff to better understand 
the risks and provide detailed training for relevant staff. Moat’s 
Slavery and Human Trafficking Statement can be found online 
at moat.co.uk

Health and Safety
The Board is aware of its responsibilities on all matters relating to 
health and safety. Moat has prepared detailed health and safety 
policies and provided staff training and education on health and 
safety matters. 

Internal controls
The Board has overall responsibility for establishing and 
maintaining the whole system of internal control for Moat and for 
reviewing its effectiveness.
The Board recognises that no system of internal control can 
provide absolute assurance against material misstatement or 
loss or eliminate all risk of failure to achieve business objectives. 
The system of internal control provides reasonable assurance 
about the preparation and reliability of financial and operational 
information and the safeguarding of Moat’s assets and interests. 
The system is designed to manage key risks and to provide 
reasonable assurance that planned business objectives and 
outcomes can be achieved. 

The Board has adopted a risk based approach to internal controls 
which is embedded within Moat’s management and governance 
procedures. This approach includes the regular evaluation of the 
nature and extent of risks to which Moat is exposed.

The process adopted by the Board in reviewing the effectiveness 
of the system of internal control, together with some of the key 
elements of the control framework includes:

Identification and evaluation of key risks
Management responsibility has been clearly defined for the 
identification, evaluation and control of significant risks. There is a 
formal and ongoing process of management review in each area 
of Moat’s activities. The Executive Team regularly considers and 
receives reports on significant risks facing Moat and is responsible 
for reporting to the Board any significant changes around identified 
key strategic risk areas as well as emerging strategic risks.

Monitoring and corrective action
A process of control, self-assessment and regular management 
reporting on control issues provides hierarchical assurance to 
management and to the Board. This includes a rigorous procedure 
for ensuring that corrective action is taken in relation to significant 
control issues, particularly those that may have a material impact 
on the financial statements and effective delivery of services.
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Control environment and control procedures
The Board and Board Committees retain responsibility for a 
defined range of matters covering strategic, operational, financial 
and compliance issues including treasury strategy and large new 
investment projects.

The Board has adopted and disseminated to all employees a Code 
of Conduct for Employees. This sets out Moat’s requirements 
around the integrity and ethics of its employees. The Code is 
supported by a framework of policies and procedures which cover 
fraud prevention and detection, health and safety, data and asset 
protection, financial delegated authorities, segregation of duties, 
accounting and treasury management. 

Information and financial reporting systems
The Board approves a strategic plan in each financial year as 
well as a long term financial plan and budget. Financial reporting 
procedures include management accounts produced monthly 
and forecasts for the remainder of the financial year. Management 
accounts are reviewed at every Finance Committee meeting 
and the Board also regularly reviews progress towards the 
achievements of key business objectives, targets and outcomes.

Anti-Fraud and Anti-Bribery Statement
The Board has a policy on anti-fraud and anti-bribery covering 
prevention, detection and reporting of fraud and the recovery 
of assets. Moat recognises that bribery and corruption, in all its 
forms, is illegal and unacceptable. Moat expects its business 
partners to adopt a similar approach in these areas and makes 
this a condition for new contracts. A register is maintained of 
any frauds or potential frauds. The Audit Committee reviews the 
Fraud Register at each meeting and has taken the results of these 
reviews into account in its report to the Board. 

The Board has reviewed the system of internal controls for the 
year ended 31 March 2016 and has received sufficient assurance 
on the adequacy of controls in the year under review.  There has 
been no major breach within the year or up to the date of signing 
the financial statements that requires disclosure.

The Board continues to believe outsourced provision of internal 
audit best supports an independent and detailed review of key 
procedures and controls across Moat.

Statement of confirmation
The directors confirm that they consider that the Strategic Report 
and financial statements, taken as a whole, are fair, balanced 
and understandable and provides the information necessary for 
members to assess Moat’s performance, business model and 
strategy.

Statements of compliance
The directors confirm that the Strategic Report follows the 
principles set out in the Statement of Recommended Practice, 
Accounting by Registered Social Housing Providers Update 2014 
(SORP).

The directors confirm their compliance with the HCA’s Governance 
and Viability Standard.

Directors’ responsibilities statement
The directors are responsible for preparing the Directors’ Report 
and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and 
regulations. 

Co-operative and Community Benefit Society law requires the 
directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. 
Under those regulations the directors have elected to prepare the 
financial statements in accordance with UK Accounting Standards, 
including FRS 102 The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in 
the UK and Republic of Ireland. The directors must not approve 
the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give 
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and the 
Association and of the surplus or deficit for that year. 

In preparing these financial statements, the directors are 
required to: 

• select suitable accounting policies and apply them 
consistently

• make judgements and accounting estimates that are 
reasonable and prudent

• state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards and the 
Statement of Recommended Practice have been followed, 
subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in 
the financial statements

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis, 
unless it is inappropriate to presume that Moat will continue 
in business. 

The directors are responsible for keeping proper books of account 
that disclose at any time the financial position of the Group and 
the Association  and enable them to ensure that the financial 
statements comply with the Co-operative and Community Benefit 
Societies Act 2014, the Housing and Regeneration Act 2008, and 
the Accounting Direction for Private Registered Providers of Social 
Housing 2015. They have general responsibility for taking such 
steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of 
the Group and the Association and to prevent and detect fraud 
and other irregularities. 

Directors’ report (continued)
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The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity 
of the corporate and financial information included on Moat’s 
website. Legislation in the UK governing the preparation and 
dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in 
other jurisdictions.

Annual general meeting
The annual general meeting will be held in September 2016. 

Disclosure of information to auditors
The directors who held office at the date of approval of this 
Directors’ Report confirm that, so far as they are each aware, there 
is no relevant audit information of which our auditors are unaware 
and each director has taken all the steps that he/she ought to 
have taken as a director to make himself/herself aware of any 
relevant audit information and to establish that our auditors are 
aware of that information. 

Auditors
A resolution to reappoint KPMG LLP as external auditors shall be 
proposed at the annual general meeting.

Approved by the Board and signed on its behalf by:

Liz McMeikan

Chair
21 July 2016
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MHL Board members
•  Liz McMeikan  Independent, Chair

•  Jeffrey Hume  Senior Independent

•  Mark Foster  Independent 
 (appointed May 2016)

•  Owen Ingram  Independent

•  Ian Lindsay  Independent

•  Gerry McCormack  Independent

•  Jo Moran  Independent

•  Ruth Thompson  Independent

•  Andrew Wells  Independent

•  Steve White  Independent 
 (appointed July 2016)

•  Elizabeth Austerberry  Executive

•  Hugh Fenn  Executive 
 (appointed November 2015, resigned May 2016)

•  Steve Nunn  Executive

•  Greg Taylor  Executive

Secretary
•  Greg Taylor

Executive Team
•  Elizabeth Austerberry 

 Chief Executive

•  Hugh Fenn (resigned May 2016) 
 Executive Director: Housing and Customer Services

•  Steve Nunn 
 Executive Director: Development and New Business

•  Greg Taylor 
 Executive Director: Finance and Corporate Services

Registered office and advisors
•  Registered office 

 Mariner House, Galleon Boulevard, Crossways 
 Dartford, Kent DA2 6QE

•  Registered auditor 
 KPMG LLP, 15 Canada Square, Canary Wharf 
 London E14 5GL

•  Principal solicitor 
 Trowers & Hamlins LLP, 3 Bunhill Row, London  
 EC1Y 8YZ

•  Banker 
 Royal Bank of Scotland plc, Europa House 
 49 Sandgate Road, Folkestone, Kent CT20 1RU

Legal status
•  Registered under the Co-operative and Community   

 Benefits Societies Act 2014, No.17434R.

•  Registered under Section 5 of the Housing   
 Associations Act 1985 No. L0386.

Directors’ report (continued)
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Audit committee Number of meetings attended (4 in total)
Gerry McCormack Chair 4

Owen Ingram 4

Ian Lindsay (resigned May 2015) 1

Liz McMeikan (resigned Febraury 2016) 4

Ruth Thompson 2

Finance Committee Number of meetings attended (6 in total)
Jeff Hume Chair 6

Gerry McCormack 6

Ian Lindsay (appointed May 2015) 6

Andrew Wells 6

Greg Taylor 6

Customer & Communities Committee Number of meetings attended (5 in total)
Jo Moran Chair 5

Owen Ingram 5

Ruth Thompson 4

Graham Butterworth (resigned March 2016) Resident 5

Bose Johnson (resigned November 2015) Resident 1

David Smith (resigned March 2016) Resident 4

John Wilkinson (resigned March 2016) Resident 4

Hugh Fenn (resigned May 2016) Executive 5

Remuneration Committee Number of meetings attended (2 in total)
Jeff Hume Chair 2

Liz McMeikan 2

Jo Moran 1

Andrew Wells 2

Governance & Nominations Committee Number of meetings attended (2 in total)
Ruth Thompson Chair 2

Jeff Hume 2

Liz McMeikan 2

31



Moat Homes Limited - Financial Statements 2016

32

Independent auditors’ report to 
the members of Moat Homes Limited only

OPINIONS AND CONCLUSIONS ARISING 
FROM OUR AUDIT

Our opinion on the financial statements 
is unmodified
We have audited the financial statements of Moat Homes Limited 
for the year ended 31 March 2016 on pages 35 to 81. 

In our opinion the financial statements: 

• give a true and fair view, in accordance with UK Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice, including FRS 102 The 
Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and 
Republic of Ireland, of the state of affairs of the Group and 
the Association as at 31 March 2016 and of the income and 
expenditure of the Group and the Association for the year 
then ended;   

• comply with the requirements of the Co-operative and 
Community Benefit Societies Act 2014; and 

• have been properly prepared in accordance with the Housing 
and Regeneration Act 2008 and the Accounting Direction for 
Private Registered Providers of Social Housing 2015.

Our assessment of risks of material misstatement 
In arriving at our audit opinion above on the financial statements 
the risk of material misstatement that had the greatest effect on 
our audit was as follows: 

Impairment of general needs housing properties 
(carrying value of general needs properties £930m; 
nil impairment) 
Refer to page 23 (Report of the Audit Committee), page 43 
(accounting policy) and page 58 (financial disclosures). This is a 
new risk.

The risk 
In July 2015 the government announced that social housing rents 
for all general needs properties would be reduced by 1% per 
annum for a period of four years commencing 1 April 2016. As 
specifically required by accounting rules, this is a triggering event 
to test general needs rented housing properties for impairment.

As explained in note 2, the recoverable amount of those properties 
is assessed based on the cost of constructing an equivalent asset 
on the same site (‘Depreciated Replacement Cost’ or DRC).   

For the majority of schemes it is expected that the carrying 
value will be less than DRC and as such the risk of impairment 
is considered low.  The key risk is considered to be around 
those schemes where build costs are historically higher than the 
replacement cost due to factors such developments not being 
completed to plan or developments completed during periods 
where build costs were higher due to economic factors such as 
lack of supply of materials. The directors reviewed build costs by 
year and identified a number of periods where this was the case.  

For these developments the directors calculated the DRC by 
reference to build costs used in the investment appraisal (which 
are based on actual tender costs) during 2016 for similar schemes 
and multiplying this by the area for the scheme being considered.  
As the Group operates in the south-east of England build costs 
are considered comparable. The Group (along with all Housing 
Associations) has a number of developments going on at any 
given time and is required to tender each build contract and 
award to the lowest provider and so the Group has a good idea of 
current build costs.   

Our Response
We reviewed and challenged the completeness of the schemes 
tested for impairment by comparing build costs incurred to current 
build costs. In addition we held discussions with the development 
department and benchmarked the costs of certain schemes 
against other Housing Associations.

For those schemes at risk of impairment we:  

1.   Agreed current build costs used in the DRC model to recent  
      contractor invoices for similar types of schemes

2.   Critically assessed contractor invoices by checking tender  
      documents and invoices

3.   Agreed the area of the scheme to scheme appraisals and  
      plans

4.   Reviewed the mathematical accuracy of the DRC calculation

5.   Agreed the carrying value of the scheme to the fixed asset  
      register

6.   Compared the DRC to the carrying value to assess whether  
      DRC was below the carrying value of the scheme.

The recoverable value of properties for sale is no longer deemed to 
be a significant risk given there are no concerns about the volumes 
of property sales and a year on year increase in property prices 
in London and the South East where the Group operates. We 
confirmed with management that there are no concerns with the 
volume of after date sales to 29 June 2016.  
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Our application of materiality and an overview of 
the scope of our audit 
Materiality for the Group financial statements as a whole was 
set at £1.8m (2014-15: £2.4m), determined with reference to 
a benchmark of Group turnover of which it represents 1.5% 
(2014-15: 2.2%)). We consider revenue to be more appropriate 
than a profit-based benchmark as the Group is a not-for-profit 
organisation, therefore the focus is on revenue. The decrease in 
the materiality level between 2015 and 2016 was as a result of 
2016 being the first year that the Group has adopted SORP 2014.

We reported to the Audit Committee any corrected or uncorrected 
identified misstatements exceeding £90k (2014-15: £121k), in 
addition to other identified misstatements that warranted reporting 
on qualitative grounds. 

The Group consists of seven components, all of which are 
accounted for at the Group’s head office in Dartford. The Group 
audit team performed the audits of all these components. 
Materiality levels were set individually for each component, based 
on statutory materiality levels. Due to the respective size and 
nature of the activities of these components they ranged from 
£1,000 to £1.79 million (2014-15: £1,000 to £2.4 million). 

We have nothing to report on the disclosures of 
principal risks
Based on the knowledge we acquired during our audit, we have 
nothing material to add or draw attention to in relation to: 

• the directors’ statement of viability within the Directors’ 
Report on pages 26 to 29, concerning the principal risks, 
their management, and, based on that, the directors’ 
assessment and expectations of the Group’s continuing in 
operation over the three years to 2019; or 

• the disclosures in note 1 of the financial statements 
concerning the use of the going concern basis of accounting. 

We have nothing to report in respect of the matters 
on which we are required to report by exception 
Under ISAs (UK and Ireland) we are required to report to you if, 
based on the knowledge we acquired during our audit, we have 
identified other information in the annual report that contains a 
material inconsistency with either that knowledge or the financial 
statements, a material misstatement of fact, or that is otherwise 
misleading. In particular we are required to report to you if: 

• we have identified material inconsistencies between 
the knowledge we acquired during our audit and the 
Board’s statement that they consider that the annual 
report and financial statements taken as a whole is 
fair, balanced and understandable and provides the 
information necessary for the members to assess the 
Group’s position and performance, business model 
and strategy; or 

• the Report of the Audit Committee does not 
appropriately address matters communicated by us to 
the Audit Committee. 

Under the Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies Act 
2014 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion: 

• the Association has not kept proper books of account; 
or 

• the Association has not maintained a satisfactory 
system of control over transactions; or 

• the financial statements are not in agreement with the 
Association‘s books of account; or 

• we have not received all the information and 
explanations we need for our audit. 

We have nothing to report in respect of the above responsibilities. 

Respective responsibilities of the Board and auditor 
As more fully explained in the Statement of Directors’ 
Responsibilities set out on page 28 to 29, the Association’s 
directors are responsible for the preparation of financial statements 
which give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit, and 
express an opinion on, the financial statements in accordance with 
applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and 
Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing 
Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors. 

Scope of an audit of financial statements 
performed in accordance with ISAs (UK and 
Ireland) 
A description of the scope of an audit of financial statements is 
provided on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at  
frc.org.uk/auditscopeukprivate. This report is made solely to the 
Association’s members as a body and is subject to important 
explanations regarding our responsibilities, published on our 
website at kpmg.com/uk/auditscopeother2014, which are 
incorporated into this report as if set out in full and should be read 
to provide an understanding of the purpose of this report, the work 
we have undertaken and the basis of our opinions. 
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Independent auditors’ report to 
the members of Moat Homes Limited only (continued)

The purpose of our audit work and to whom we 
owe our responsibilities 
This report is made solely to the Association in accordance with 
section 87 of the Co-operative and Community Benefit Societies 
Act 2014 and section 128 of the Housing and Regeneration Act 
2008. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state 
to the Association those matters we are required to state to it in 
an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent 
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to 
anyone other than the Association for our audit work, for this 
report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

Harry Mears
For and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor

Chartered Accountants
15 Canada Square, Canary Wharf, London E14 5GL

25 July 2016
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Notes 2016 2015
restated

£’000 £’000

Turnover 3 120,726 111,332

Operating expenditure 3 (75,683) (72,726)

Operating surplus 3 45,043 38,606

Gain on disposal of fixed assets 4 12,573 8,752

Gain on disposal of investments 5 2,014 31

Share of operating surplus in associate 16 - 32

Interest receivable 8 123 216

Interest and finance costs 9/10 (20,689) (19,739)

Movement in fair value of investments 18 48 389

Movement in fair value of financial instruments 29 (836) (7,204)

Surplus before tax 11 38,276 21,083

Taxation 13 (425) (165)

Surplus for the year 37,851 20,918

Movement in fair value of hedged financial instruments 29 (2,693) (22,748)

Remeasurement of net defined benefit asset/(liability) 32 181 (271)

Total comprehensive income for the year 35,339 (2,101)

All amounts relate to continuing activities.
Movements in reserves are shown in the Consolidated statement of changes in equity.
There is no difference between the surplus for the year stated above and its historical cost equivalent.

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 March 2016
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Notes 2016 2015
restated

£’000 £’000

Turnover 3 120,551 106,055

Operating expenditure 3 (75,706) (68,247)

Operating surplus 3 44,845 37,808

Gain on disposal of fixed assets 4 12,573 8,752

Interest receivable 8 116 132

Interest and finance costs 9 (20,604) (19,564)

Movement in fair value of financial instruments 29 (836) (7,204)

Surplus before tax and Gift Aid 11 36,094 19,924

Gift Aid 12 - 1,796

Surplus before tax 36,094 21,720

Taxation 13 4 (165)

Surplus for the year 36,098 21,555

Movement in fair value of hedged financial instruments 29 (2,693) (22,748)

Total comprehensive income for the year 33,405 (1,193)

All amounts relate to continuing activities.
Movements in reserves are shown in the Association statement of changes in equity.
There is no difference between the surplus for the year stated above and its historical cost equivalent.

Association statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 March 2016
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Notes 2016 2015
restated

£’000 £’000

Fixed assets

Housing properties 15 1,234,685 1,183,013

Investment in associates 16 - 8

Investment properties 18 2,585 5,167

Other tangible fixed assets 19 13,359 13,006

HomeBuy loans receivable 67,557 77,806

1,318,186 1,279,000

Current assets

Stock 20 17,848 12,721

Debtors 21 36,463 26,108

Cash and cash equivalents 21,882 20,537

76,193 59,366

Creditors - amounts falling due within one year 22 (37,969) (38,667)

Net current assets 38,224 20,699

Total assets less current liabilities 1,356,410 1,299,699

Creditors - amounts falling due after more than one year 23 (1,011,728) (993,742)

Provision for liabilities - pension provision 32 (1,285) (1,428)

- financial instruments 29 (69,797) (66,268)

Net assets 273,600 238,261

Capital and reserves

Called up share capital 31 - -

Reserves - General Reserve 326,826 288,794

- Cashflow Hedge Reserve (53,226) (50,533)

273,600 238,261

The financial statements were approved by the Board on 21 July 2016 and signed on its behalf by

Consolidated statement of financial position
As at 31 March 2016

Liz McMeikan                                                                                                 
Chair                                                                                                                     

Gerard McCormack
Board Member

Greg Taylor
Secretary
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Association statement of financial position
As at 31 March 2016

Notes 2016 2015
restated

£’000 £’000

Fixed assets

Housing properties 15 1,234,233 1,182,557

Investment in subsidiary company 17 50 50

Investment properties 18 458 458

Other tangible fixed assets 19 13,359 13,006

HomeBuy loans receivable 67,307 77,557

1,315,407 1,273,628

Current assets

Stock 20 17,561 12,706

Debtors 21 34,738 23,559

Cash and cash equivalents 20,748 19,686

73,047 55,951

Creditors - amounts falling due within one year 22 (55,522) (49,620)

Net current assets 17,525 6,331

Total assets less current liabilities 1,332,932 1,279,959

Creditors - amounts falling due after more than one year 23 (1,003,281) (987,243)

Provision for liabilities

- financial instruments 29 (69,797) (66,268)

Net assets 259,854 226,448

Capital and reserves

Called up shared capital 31 - -

Reserves - General Reserve 313,080 276,981

 - Cashflow Hedge Reserve (53,226) (50,533)

259,854 226,448

 The financial statements were approved by the Board on 21 July 2016 and signed on its behalf by
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Chair                                                                                                                     

Gerard McCormack
Board Member

Greg Taylor
Secretary
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
As at 31 March 2016

General 
reserves

Cashflow 
hedge reserve

Reserves

£’000 £’000 £’000

Balance at 1 April 2014 265,349 - 265,349

Transition to FRS102

Pension - past service deficit contributions (5,623) - (5,623)

Employee accrued annual leave (319) - (319)

Revaluation of commercial properties 431 - 431

Movement in fair value of financial instruments (8,531) - (8,531)

Movement in fair value of hedged financial instruments (27,785) (27,785)

Finance leases (115) - (115)

Additional amortisation of government grant 48,968 - 48,968

Additional depreciation of housing properties (28,694) - (28,694)

Prior year adjustment

MyChoiceHomeBuy refund (3,320) - (3,320)

Restated balance at 1 April 2014 268,146 (27,785) 240,361

Transition to FRS102

Pension - past service deficit contribution 271 - 271

Additional amortisation of government grant 4,969 - 4,969

Additional depreciation of housing properties (3,028) - (3,028)

Write back depreciation on sale of asset (124) - (124)

Revaluation of investment properties 284 - 284

Movement in fair value of financial instruments (7,204) - (7,204)

Movement in fair value of hedged financial instruments - (22,748) (22,748)

Finance leases 36 - 36

Other finance costs-interest on scheme liabilities (211) - (211)

Remeasurement of net defined benefit asset 53 - 53

Other management costs (1) - (1)

Prior year adjustment

MyChoiceHomeBuy refund (710) - (710)

Surplus for the year under UK GAAP 26,637 - 26,637

Remeasurement of net defined benefit liability (324) - (324)

Restated balance at 1 April 2015 288,794 (50,533) 238,261

Surplus for the year 37,851 - 37,851

Movement in fair value of hedged financial instruments - (2,693) (2,693)

Remeasurement of net defined benefit asset 181 - 181

Balance at 31 March 2016 326,826 (53,226) 273,600
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Association statement of changes in equity
As at 31 March 2016

General 
reserves

Cashflow 
hedge reserve

Reserves

£’000 £’000 £’000

Balance at 1 April 2014 252,630 - 252,630

Transition to FRS102

Transfer employee costs from MHG (5,942) - (5,942)

Revaluation of commercial properties 431 - 431

Movement in fair value of financial instruments (8,531) - (8,531)

Movement in fair value of hedged financial instruments - (27,785) (27,785)

Finance leases (115) - (115)

Additional amortisation of government grant 48,966 - 48,966

Additional depreciation of housing properties (28,693) - (28,693)

Prior year adjustment

MyChoiceHomeBuy refund (3,320) - (3,320)

Restated balance at 1 April 2014 255,426 (27,785) 227,641

Transition to FRS102

Transfer employee costs from MHG 271 - 271

Additional amortisation of government grant 4,968 - 4,968

Additional depreciation of housing properties (3,026) - (3,026)

Write back depreciation on sale of asset (124) - (124)

Movement in fair value of financial instruments (7,204) - (7,204)

Movement in fair value of hedged financial instruments - (22,748) (22,748)

Finance leases 36 - 36

Prior year adjustment

MyChoiceHomeBuy refund (710) - (710)

Surplus for the year under UK GAAP 27,345 - 27,345

Restated balance at 1 April 2015 276,982 (50,533) 226,449

Surplus for the year 36,098 - 36,098

Movement in fair value of hedged financial instruments - (2,693) (2,693)

Balance at 31 March 2016 313,080 (53,226) 259,854
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Consolidated statement of cash flows
For the year ended 31 March 2016

2016 2015
restated

£’000 £’000

Net cash generated from operating activities (note 34) 73,167 47,180

Cash flow from investing activities:

Purchase of housing properties (96,076) (87,903)

Purchase of other fixed assets (815) (1,558)

Proceeds from sale of tangible fixed assets 33,805 30,072

Grants received 4,400 3,668

Grants repaid (3,169) -

HomeBuy loans repaid 1,888 1,940

Interest received 123 216

Net cash outflow from investing activities (59,844) (53,565)

Cash flow from financing activities:

Interest paid (22,296) (22,871)

Interest element of finance lease rental payment (54) (60)

Additional cash collateral paid (12,380) (9,020)

New secured loans 23,596 27,500

Repayment of borrowings (844) (782)

Net cash outflow from financing activities (11,978) (5,233)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 1,345 (11,618)

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April 2015 20,537 32,155

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 2016 21,882 20,537
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1. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Basis of preparation
MHL is a public benefit entity. The financial statements have 
been prepared in accordance with applicable United Kingdom 
accounting standards, including ‘Financial Reporting Standard 
102 - The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the United 
Kingdom and Republic of Ireland’ (FRS 102), the Accounting 
Direction for Private Registered Providers of Social Housing from 
April 2015 and the Statement of Recommended Practice for 
registered social housing providers 2014 (SORP), published by 
the National Housing Federation. The financial statements have 
been prepared on the historic cost basis except for modification to 
a fair value basis for certain financial instruments and investment 
properties as specified in the accounting policies below.

This is the first year the financial statements have been prepared 
under FRS 102. An explanation of how the transition to FRS 102 
has affected the financial position and financial performance is 
provided in Note 35.

The financial statements are presented in Sterling (£’000s).

Basis of consolidation 
The consolidated financial statements of MHL incorporate 
the financial statements of Moat Housing Group Limited, 
Moat Development Limited, Mariner Facilities Management 
Limited, Moat Foundation, Moat Homes Finance plc and Moat 
Construction Services Limited.

Parent company disclosure exemptions 
In preparing the separate financial statements of the parent 
company, advantage has been taken of the following disclosure 
exemptions available in FRS102:

• the requirement to present a statement of cash flows and 
related notes

• the reconciliation of the number of shares outstanding from 
the beginning to end of the period.

Going concern 
After making enquiries and reviewing the financial plan, the Board 
has a reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate 
resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable 
future. For this reason, it continues to adopt the going concern 
basis in the financial statements.

Housing properties
Housing properties are stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. Cost 
includes the cost of acquiring land and buildings, development 
costs, interest capitalised during the development period, directly 
attributable administration costs, and expenditure incurred in 
respect of improvements which comprise the modernisation and 
extension of existing properties. 

Housing properties for rent are split between land, structure and 
major components with a substantially different economic life.

Shared ownership properties are split between current and fixed 
assets on the basis of the first tranche portion. The first tranche 
portion is accounted for as a current asset. The fixed asset portion 
is split between land and structure as the rights and obligations 
towards improving the property reside with the resident. 

Housing properties in the course of construction are stated at 
cost and are not depreciated. They are transferred to completed 
properties when they are ready for letting or sale. 

Gains and losses on disposals of housing properties are 
determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount 
and incidental costs of sales and recognised within gain/loss 
on disposal of fixed assets in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income.

Housing properties - Depreciation
Depreciation is charged on a straight line basis over the expected 
economic useful lives of each component part of housing 
properties. Land is not depreciated. The estimated useful lives are 
as follows:

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are 
reviewed if there is an indication of a significant change since the 
last reporting date in the pattern by which the Group expects to 
consume an asset’s future economic benefits.

Non component works to existing properties
The amount of expenditure incurred which relates to an 
improvement, which is defined as an increase in the net rental 
stream or the life of a property, has been capitalised. Expenditure 
incurred on other major repairs, cyclical and day-to-day repairs 
to housing properties is charged to operating expenditure in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income in the year in 
which they are incurred.

HOUSING PROPERTIES

Structure - 100 years

Kitchens - 20 years

Bathrooms - 30 years

Windows - 30 years

Heating - 15 years

Roofs - 50 years

Doors - 20 years

Electrical wiring - 40 years

Notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 31 March 2016
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Interest capitalised
Interest on borrowings is capitalised to housing properties 
during the course of construction up to the date of completion 
of each scheme. The interest capitalised is either on borrowings 
specifically taken to finance a scheme or on net borrowings to 
the extent that they are deemed to be financing a scheme. This 
treatment applies irrespective of the original purpose for which the 
loan was raised. For the period ending 31 March 2016, interest 
has been capitalised at an average rate of 4.95% (2015: 4.62%) 
that reflects the weighted average effective interest rate on the 
Group’s borrowings.

Other tangible fixed assets
Other tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation. Depreciation is charged on a straight line basis over 
the expected economic useful lives of the asset. No depreciation 
is provided on freehold land. The principal annual rates used for 
other assets are:

Leases
Leases in which the Group assumes substantially all the risks 
and rewards of ownership of the leased asset are classified 
as finance leases. All other leases are classified as operating 
leases. Leased assets acquired by way of finance leases are 
capitalised as tangible fixed assets at their fair value (or, if lower, 
the present value of the minimum lease payments as determined 
at inception of the lease), and are depreciated over the shorter 
of the lease terms and their useful lives. The capital elements of 
future lease obligations are recorded as liabilities, while the interest 
elements are charged to intrest in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income over the period of the leases to produce a 
constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the 
liability.

Payments (excluding costs for servicing and insurance) made 
under operating leases are recognised in operating expenditure in 
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on a straight 
line basis over the term of the lease unless the payments to the 
lessor are structured to increase in line with expected general 
inflation, when the payments are recognised as incurred. Lease 
incentives received are recognised over the term of the lease as an 
integral part of the total lease expense.

Impairment of fixed assets (excluding investments)
The carrying amounts of the Group’s fixed assets (excluding 
investments) are reviewed at each reporting date to determine 
whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such 
indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. 
The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is 
the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. 
For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped into 
the smallest group of assets that generates cash flows from 
continuing use. 

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the 
asset’s carrying value exceeds its estimated recoverable amount 
and is recognised in operating expenditure in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income.

An impairment loss is reversed if and only if the reasons for the 
impairment have ceased to apply.

Impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at 
each reporting date for indications that the loss has decreased or 
no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent 
that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation and 
amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised. 

Social Housing Grant (SHG) 
SHG is initially recognised at fair value as a long term liability, 
specifically as deferred grant income and released through 
the surplus for the year as turnover income over the life of the 
structure of housing properties in accordance with the accrual 
model. Grants relating to expenditure on tangible fixed assets are 
credited to turnover at the same rate as the depreciation on the 
assets to which the grant relates. The deferred element of the 
grants is included in creditors as deferred income.

On disposal of properties, all associated SHG is transferred 
to either the Recycled Capital Grant Fund (RCGF) or Disposal 
Proceeds Fund (DPF) until the grant is recycled or repaid to reflect 
the existing obligation under the social housing grant funding 
regime.

Investments in HomeBuy
Under the HomeBuy scheme, the Group receives HomeBuy grant 
representing a percentage of the open market purchase price of 
a property in order to advance loans to a homebuyer. The loans 
advanced by the Group meet the definition of concessionary loans 
and are shown as Fixed asset investments on the consolidated 
statement of financial position. The HomeBuy grant provided by 
the government to fund all or part of a HomeBuy loan has been 
reclassified as deferred income under FRS 102 as a creditor due in 
more than one year.

Office buildings - 50 years

Motor vehicles - 3 years

Office equipment, fixtures and fittings - 5 to 10 years

Computer equipment - 3 years

Scheme furniture and equipment - 3 to 40 years
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2016

In the event that the property is sold, the Group recovers the 
equivalent loaned percentage of the property at the time of the 
sale. The grant is reclassified to recyclable capital grant fund when 
the loans are redeemed up to the amount of the original grant and 
to the extent the proceeds permit. The Group retains any surplus 
proceeds less sale costs attributable to the equivalent loaned 
percentage share of the value of the property. If there is a fall in 
the value of the property the shortfall of proceeds is offset against 
the grant.

Investment properties
Investment properties are properties which are held either to earn 
rental income or for capital appreciation or for both. Investment 
properties are not depreciated but are held at fair value. Changes 
in fair value are recognised in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income. Rental income from these properties is 
taken to turnover.

Investments in subsidiaries
Investments in subsidiaries are measured at cost less accumulated 
impairment.

Investments in associates
In the Group financial statements investments in associates 
are accounted for using the equity method. Investments in 
associates are initially recognised at the transaction price (including 
transaction costs) and are subsequently adjusted to reflect the 
Group’s share of the profit or loss of the associate. 

In the Company financial statements investments in associates are 
accounted for at cost less impairment.

Housing stock for sale
Completed properties and properties under construction for open 
market sales and the first tranche portion of shared ownership 
properties are recognised at the lower of cost and net realisable 
value. Net realisable value is based on estimated sales price 
after allowing for all further costs of completion and disposal. At 
each reporting date, the housing stock for sale is assessed for 
impairment. If impairment is necessary the carrying amount is 
reduced to its selling price less costs to complete and sell. The 
impairment loss is immediately recognised in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income.

On disposal, sales proceeds are included in turnover and the 
cost of sales, including costs incurred in the development of the 
properties, marketing and other incidental costs, are included in 
operating expenses.

Mixed tenure developments
Where a mixed tenure development includes shared ownership or 
open market sales, the costs incurred in acquiring and developing 
the land attributed to each element of the scheme reflect the 
different tenure types. 

Future repair funds
Charges which are made to leaseholders for future major repairs 
such as replacement windows and roofs and the replacement 
of equipment within their estates are ring fenced for use on 
their properties/estates only. Such funds are disclosed on the 
Statement of financial position as creditors.

Financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are recognised when the Group 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according 
to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into. An 
equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest 
in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities.

Basic financial instruments
Rent arrears, Trade and Other debtors
Rent arrears, Trade and Other debtors are recognised initially at 
transaction price less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent 
to initial recognition they are measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest rate method, less any impairment losses. If 
the arrangement constitutes a financing transaction, for example 
if payment is deferred beyond normal business terms, then it is 
measured at the present value of future payments discounted at a 
market rate for a similar debt instrument.

Trade and Other creditors
Trade and Other creditors are recognised initially at transaction 
price plus attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial 
recognition they are measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate method. If the arrangement constitutes a 
financing transaction, for example if payment is deferred beyond 
normal business terms, then it is measured at the present value 
of future payments discounted at a market rate for a similar debt 
instrument.

Interest-bearing borrowings classified as basic financial 
instruments
Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less 
attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, 
interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method, less any impairment losses.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and 
call deposits.

Other financial instruments 
(not considered to be basic financial instruments)
Derivative financial instruments
The Group uses certain financial instruments to reduce exposure 
to interest rate movements. The Group does not hold or issue 
derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes.
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Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date 
a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently 
remeasured to their fair value at each reporting date. The resulting 
gain or loss is recognised in the surplus for the year immediately 
unless the derivative is designated and effective as a hedging 
instrument, see below.

Hedge accounting
The Group designates certain derivatives as hedging instruments 
in cash flow hedges.

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that 
are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges is recognised 
in other comprehensive income. The gain or loss relating to the 
ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the surplus for 
the year. Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive 
income are reclassified to surplus for the year when the hedged 
item is recognised in surplus for the year or when the hedging 
relationship ends.

Impairment of financial assets
Financial assets not carried at fair value are assessed for indicators 
of impairment at each reporting date. A financial asset is impaired 
if objective evidence indicates that a loss event has occurred after 
the initial recognition of the asset, and that the loss event had a 
negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset 
that can be estimated reliably. Impairment losses are recognised in 
the surplus for the year.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the 
impairment is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount 
and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted 
at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost less impairment, the impairment 
loss is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the 
best estimate of the amount that would be received for the asset if 
it were to be sold at the reporting date.

When a subsequent event causes the amount of the impairment 
loss to decrease, the decrease is reversed through the surplus for 
the year.

Employee benefits
Defined contribution plans
A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan 
under which the Group pays fixed contributions into a separate 
entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay 
further amounts. Obligations for contributions to defined 
contribution pension plans are shown as an operating expense 
in the surplus for the year during which services are rendered 
by employees. The Group participates in the Aviva defined 
contribution plan, closed to new members, and the Social Housing 
Pension Scheme (SHPS) defined contribution plan which is open 
to all new employees and current employees have the opportunity 
to switch into it.

Defined benefit plans
The Group participates in the multi-employer defined benefit Social 
Housing Pension Scheme (SHPS) operated by The Pensions Trust 
and is deemed to participate in the Growth Plan as an Additional 
Voluntary Contribution (AVC) Vehicle for members of the SHPS 
scheme. It is not possible to identify the share of the underlying 
assets and liabilities belonging to individual participating employers 
on a consistent and reasonable basis and therefore the Group 
accounts for the scheme as if it were a defined contribution 
scheme. As a result, the amount charged to operating expenditure 
represents the contributions payable to the scheme in respect of 
the accounting period. To the extent that payment plans relate 
to funding a deficit, the contributions are recognised as a liability 
payable arising from the agreement with the multi-employer plan 
and results in a charge to operating expenditure. Where the 
payments are not expected to be settled within 12 months the 
liability is measured at the present value of the contributions paid. 
The scheme is closed to new employees.

The Group participates in the defined benefit Essex County 
Council and London Borough of Merton pension schemes which 
are closed to new employees. The amounts charged to operating 
surplus are the costs arising from the employee services rendered 
during the period and the cost of plan introductions, benefit 
changes, settlements and curtailments. They are included as part 
of staff costs. The net interest cost on the net defined benefit 
liability is charged to surplus for the year and included within 
finance costs. Remeasurement of the net assets/defined liability 
are recognised in other comprehensive income. Defined benefit 
schemes are funded in separate trustee administered funds. 
Pension scheme assets are measured at fair value and liabilities 
are measured on an actuarial basis using the projected unit credit 
method. The actuarial valuations are obtained triennially and are 
updated at each reporting date.

Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised as an expense when the 
Group is demonstrably committed, without realistic possibility 
of withdrawal, to a formal detailed plan to terminate employment. 

Provisions for liabilities
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal 
or constructive obligation as a result of a past event that can be 
reliably measured and it is probable that an outflow of economic 
benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions are 
recognised as the best estimate of the amount required to settle 
the obligation at the reporting date.

Annual leave
A provision is made for annual leave accrued by employees which 
they are entitled to carry forward and use within the next 12 
months. The provision is measured at the salary cost payable for 
the period of absence.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2016

Turnover
Turnover represents rent and service charge income receivable 
(net of void losses), fees receivable, revenue grants from public 
authorities, proceeds from first tranche sales of low-cost home 
ownership properties and from properties developed for open 
market sales, and amortisation of Social Housing Grant (SHG) 
under the accrual model. All income is recognised on a receivable 
basis and the sale of property on completion.

Agency managed accommodation
Where the agency holds the support contract with the Supporting 
People Administering Authority and carries the financial risk, the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income includes only 
that income and expenditure which relates solely to Moat such as 
rental income in turnover and repairs in operating costs.

Taxation
Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the 
taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rates enacted or 
substantively enacted at the statement of financial position date, 
and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is provided on timing differences which arise from the 
inclusion of income and expenses in tax assessments in periods 
different from those in which they are recognised in the financial 
statements.

VAT
Moat Homes Limited, Moat Housing Group Limited, Mariner 
Facilities Management Limited and Moat Homes Finance plc are 
registered as a VAT group. A large proportion of Moat’s income 
comprises rental income, which is exempt for VAT purposes 
and gives rise to a partial exemption calculation. Expenditure is 
therefore shown inclusive of VAT. Recoverable VAT arising from 
partially exempt activities is credited to the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income.

2. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 
UNCERTAINTY
In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are 
described in note 1, the Board is required to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The 
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical 
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. 
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an 
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised 
in the year in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects 
only that year, or in the year of the revision and future periods if the 
revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements 
Impairment
As explained in note 1, the Board carries out impairment 
reviews annually.

• Social housing properties 
During 2015-16, the Board deemed that the requirement 
to reduce rents by 1% for the next 4 years triggered a 
full impairment review of its rented housing properties 
(11,987 homes). Moat’s rental housing stock is split into 
schemes (1,119 schemes), small groups of properties in 
the same location where the same services are provided. 
In the impairment review schemes were taken to be the 
cash-generating unit, ie. the level at which properties were 
assessed for impairment.  
 
The average cost per build year of the rented portfolio was 
reviewed to assist in selecting a sample to assess. Given 
the lower cost of older schemes, the testing focused on 
the period since 2007-8 which was a period of lower grant 
rates, higher costs and higher land values. The sample was 
based on schemes constructed in 2008, selected as it was 
just before the housing market crash, and in 2014, which 
were built in a period of high construction costs. For each of 
these years a geographically diverse sample of schemes was 
selected. A further sample would have been selected if any 
impairment was found to be required.  
 
A desk top exercise was carried out to review the carrying 
values of rented property assets to the ‘recoverable amount’. 
The recoverable amount was the higher of the Estimated use 
value as social housing (EUV-SH) and its Value in use-special 
purpose (VIU-SP) taken to be the cost of constructing an 
equivalent asset on the same site. The cost of construction 
used was the estimated cost of construction used in 
investment appraisals. As carrying values were lower than the 
recoverable amount no impairment was necessary.

• Schemes in development 
All development schemes are assessed using an investment 
appraisal model, which is reviewed annually by the Finance 
Committee, to ensure the appropriateness of assumptions. 
During development the schemes are reviewed against 
the investment appraisal for any fluctuations in costs or 
anticipated sales values which adversely affected the net 
present value of the scheme, highlighting any schemes 
which needed to be assessed for impairment. In addition, an 
impairment review of all schemes in development during the 
year (29 schemes) where the original investment appraisal 
had not accounted for the reduction in rents was carried out. 
The investment appraisal was updated to reflect the effect 
of the rent reduction. Only one scheme was highlighted 
for impairment. The scheme was impaired by £414,000, 
£221,000 for additional costs incurred in development as the 
works contract had to be retendered following the original 
contractor going into receivership, and £193,000 for the 
effect of the rent reduction. 
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• Staircasings 
The need for an impairment is assessed for shared 
ownership schemes if first tranche sales or current staircasing 
transactions have generated a deficit. For historic schemes 
where first tranche sales resulted in a deficit, an increase in 
the current market value of the properties has resulted in a 
£326,000 release of impairment. No staircasings during the 
year generated a deficit. 

• First tranche sale portfolio 
The first tranche sale portfolio, either awaiting sale or in 
development, is reviewed to ensure that current market 
values are not below anticipated sales values. Increasing 
market values mean no impairment is required and an existing 
impairment of £44,000 on two schemes was released.

Revaluation of investment properties
The directors deemed that an external valuation of the investment 
properties was not appropriate as they were able to value the 
properties based on actual market values achieved by MHG in 
March and April as it was actively selling the investment property 
portfolio.

Leases
A review of all leases has been carried out to classify leases 
as either operating or finance. These decisions depend on an 
assessment of whether the risks and rewards of ownership have 
been transferred from the lessor to the lessee on a lease by lease 
basis. Some leases have been reclassified as finance leases and 
additional assets are recognised in Other fixed assets.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Estimated useful lives
Fixed assets are depreciated over their estimated useful lives. 
The components into which housing properties are split and their 
associated estimated lives are considered to be the appropriate 
level based on knowledge of the repairs and maintenance 
programme carried out. The actual lives of individual components 
can however vary based on factors such as product life, wear and 
tear, maintenance programmes and environmental factors.

Rent arrears
The amount of arrears that will not be collected is estimated based 
on past experience of collection of different types of debt. The 
impact of changes in welfare reform including universal credit and 
benefit caps have been estimated based on data provided from 
pilot studies and Moat’s experience based on a small population.

Pensions
The liability for future pension payments depends on a number 
of complex judgements relating to the discount rate used, the 
expected rate of price inflation, the rate at which salaries and 
pensions are expected to increase and mortality rates. Qualified 

actuaries are engaged to provide expert advice in each of the 
pension schemes of which Moat is a member.

Interest rate swaps
Uncertainties in the valuation of interest rate swaps include future 
interest rates and counterparty credit risk. Moat uses a debt and 
derivative advisory company, regulated by the Financial Conduct 
Authority, to value its derivatives. 

Housing stock for sale
Housing stock for sale is recognised at the lower of cost and net 
realisable value. In assessing net realisable value management 
considers publicly available information and internal forecasts on 
future sales activities.
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3 TURNOVER, OPERATING COSTS AND OPERATING SURPLUS - GROUP 

2016

Turnover Operating 
costs

Cost
of sales

Operating 
surplus

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Social housing lettings 93,101 (55,050) - 38,051

Other social housing activities

Contracted services 628 (632) - (4)

Development administration - (2,813) - (2,813)

Regeneration project - (686) - (686)

Impairment of scheme under construction - (414) - (414)

Shared ownership property sales 25,077 - (14,885) 10,192

Other 1,263 (1,082) - 181

Non-social housing activities

Market rent lettings 195 (29) - 166

Other income 457 - - 457

Charitable donations 5 (92) - (87)

Total 120,726 (60,798) (14,885) 45,043

2015 restated

Turnover Operating 
costs

Cost
of sales

Operating 
surplus

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Social housing lettings 86,668 (52,045) - 34,623

Other social housing activities

Contracted services 1,072 (477) - 595

Development administration 5 (2,705) - (2,700)

Impairment of scheme under construction - (400) - (400)

Shared ownership property sales 16,658 - (11,714) 4,944

Other 1,064 (934) - 130

Non-social housing activities

Market rent lettings 271 (55) - 216

Open market sales 4,813 - (4,304) 509

Other income 766 - - 766

Charitable donations 15 (92) - (77)

Total 111,332 (56,708) (16,018) 38,606

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2016
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3 TURNOVER, OPERATING COSTS AND OPERATING SURPLUS - GROUP (CONTINUED)

2016 2015

General 
needs

Low cost 
home 

ownership

Housing for 
older people 
/ supported 

housing

Total Total
restated

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Turnover from social 
housing lettings

Rents receivable 57,845 14,010 7,486 79,341 73,608

Service charge income 3,490 3,350 1,570 8,410 7,955

Net rental income 61,335 17,360 9,056 87,751 81,563

Amortisation of 
Social Housing Grant 3,661 995 444 5,100 4,970

Other revenue grants - - 250 250 135

Total turnover from 
social housing lettings 64,996 18,355 9,750 93,101 86,668

Operating costs on 
social housing lettings

Management (10,212) (4,647) (2,534) (17,393) (13,503)

Service charge costs (3,429) (3,386) (1,829) (8,644) (7,788)

Routine maintenance (7,168) (33) (1,266) (8,467) (8,463)

Planned maintenance (2,755) (10) (609) (3,374) (3,742)

Major repairs (6,125) (325) (2,046) (8,496) (10,268)

Capitalised major repair 
expenditure 5,072 - 1,121 6,193 6,296

Rent losses from bad debts (662) (33) (100) (795) (647)

Depreciation of housing 
properties (11,178) (1,910) (1,425) (14,513) (13,428)

Impairment of housing 
properties 113 326 - 439 (502)

Total operating costs on 
social housing lettings (36,344) (10,018) (8,688) (55,050) (52,045)

Operating surplus on social 
housing lettings 28,652 8,337 1,062 38,051 34,623

Void losses (740) (8) (186) (934) (794)
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3 TURNOVER, OPERATING COSTS AND OPERATING SURPLUS - ASSOCIATION 

2016

Turnover Operating 
costs

Cost
of sales

Operating 
surplus

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Social housing lettings 93,078 (55,185) - 37,893

Other social housing activities

Contracted services 599 (588) - 11

Development administration - (2,813) - (2,813)

Regeneration project - (686) - (686)

Impairment of scheme under construction - (414) - (414)

Shared ownership property sales 25,077 - (14,885) 10,192

Other 1,267 (1,130) - 137

Non-social housing activities

Market rent lettings 68 - - 68

Other income 457 (5) - 452

Charitable donations 5 - - 5

Total 120,551 (60,821) (14,885) 44,845

2015 restated

Turnover Operating 
costs

Cost
of sales

Operating 
surplus

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Social housing lettings 86,648 (51,958) - 34,690

Other social housing activities

Contracted services 835 (421) - 414

Development administration 5 (2,762) - (2,757)

Impairment of scheme under construction - (400) - (400)

Shared ownership property sales 16,658 - (11,714) 4,944

Other 1,064 (925) - 139

Non-social housing activities

Market rent lettings 68 (22) - 46

Other income 766 - - 766

Charitable donations 11 (45) - (34)

Total 106,055 (56,533) (11,714) 37,808

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2016
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2016 2015

General 
needs

Low cost 
home 

ownership

Housing for 
older people 
/ supported 

housing

Total Total
restated

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Turnover from social 
housing lettings

Rents receivable 57,827 14,010 7,486 79,323 73,590

Service charge income 3,487 3,350 1,570 8,407 7,955

Net rental income 61,314 17,360 9,056 87,730 81,545

Amortisation of 
Social Housing Grant 3,659 995 444 5,098 4,968

Other revenue grants - - 250 250 135

Total turnover from 
social housing lettings 64,973 18,355 9,750 93,078 86,648

Operating costs on 
social housing lettings

Management (10,358) (4,647) (2,534) (17,539) (13,424)

Service charge costs (3,429) (3,386) (1,829) (8,644) (7,788)

Routine maintenance (7,164) (33) (1,266) (8,463) (8,462)

Planned maintenance (2,755) (10) (609) (3,374) (3,742)

Major repairs (6,125) (325) (2,046) (8,496) (10,268)

Capitalised major repair 
expenditure 5,072 - 1,121 6,193 6,296

Rent losses from bad debts (662) (33) (100) (795) (647)

Depreciation of housing 
properties (11,171) (1,910) (1,425) (14,506) (13,421)

Impairment of housing 
properties 113 326 - 439 (502)

Total operating costs on 
social housing lettings (36,479) (10,018) (8,688) (55,185) (51,958)

Operating surplus on social 
housing lettings 28,494 8,337 1,062 37,894 34,690

Void losses (740) (8) (186) (934) (794)

3 TURNOVER, OPERATING COSTS AND OPERATING SURPLUS - ASSOCIATION (CONTINUED)
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4 GAIN ON DISPOSAL OF FIXED ASSETS - GROUP AND ASSOCIATION 

2016

Shared 
ownership 

subsequent 
tranches

Equity loan 
redemptions

Disposals Other fixed 
assets

Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Proceeds of sale 16,130 13,714 4,700 4 34,548

Less: attributable book value (8,712) (10,764) (2,269) (2) (21,747)

Incidental selling costs (139) - (89) - (228)

7,279 2,950 2,342 2 12,573

2015 restated 5,810 2,151 788 3 8,752

5 GAIN ON DISPOSAL ON INVESTMENTS - GROUP

2016

Investment
property

Investment 
in Chrysalis

Total

£’000 £’000 £’000

Proceeds of sale 3,040 1,804 4,844

Less: attributable book value (2,630) (8) (2,638)

Incidental selling costs (71) (121) (192)

339 1,675 2,014

2015 31 - 31

 
 
6 BOARD MEMBERS AND EXECUTIVE TEAM 

The total emoluments, including pension contributions, received by Moat Executive Team (ET) members 
were £691,752 (2015: £677,505) in the year. The emoluments of the highest paid director in the year 
were as follows:

2016 2015

£’000 £’000

Emoluments, excluding pension contributions 183 184

Pension contributions - in respect of services as director 18 10

201 194

The Chief Executive is an ordinary member of the SHPS defined contribution scheme.

ET members’ contracts of employment are with Moat Housing Group Limited, although they work for all 
members of Moat.

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2016
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6 BOARD MEMBERS AND EXECUTIVE TEAM (CONTINUED) 

Non-executive Board members received £90,927 (2015: £80,862) as fees for their services to the Group 
and also received £3,825 as expenses during the year (2015: £2,629). They were paid on a pro-rata basis:

Remuneration per annum

2016 2015
£ £

MHL chair 18,000 18,000

Board member 10,000 10,000

Details of Board and Committee members can be found on pages 30 and 31.

7 EMPLOYEE INFORMATION - GROUP

2016 2015

Average 
number
of staff

Average 
full time 

equivalent

Average 
number
of staff

Average 
full time 

equivalent

Housing 239 214 227 200

Management 89 83 91 84

New business and sales 58 53 58 52

386 350 376 336

Fulll time equivalents are calculated based on a standard working week of 35 hours.

Total staff costs for the year:

2016 2015 
restated

£’000 £’000

Wages and salaries 12,064 11,726

Social security costs 1,152 1,150

Other pension costs 3,698 1,144

16,914 14,020
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7 EMPLOYEE INFORMATION - GROUP (CONTINUED)

19 (2015: 23) employees, including executive directors, earned over £60,000 in remuneration in the following bands:

2016 2015

No of 
employees

No of 
employees

£60,000 - £69,999 4 7

£70,000 - £79,999 6 2

£80,000 - £89,999 4 5

£90,000 - £99,999 1 3

£100,000 - £109,999 - 1

£130,000 - £139,999 1 -

£140,000 - £149,999 1 2

£150,000 - £159,999 1 2

£180,000 - £189,999 1 1

Remuneration includes salary, allowances, bonuses and compensation for loss of office.

8 INTEREST RECEIVABLE
Group Association

2016 2015 2016 2015
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Interest receivable 123 216 116 132

9 INTEREST AND FINANCE COSTS
Group Association

2016 2015
restated

2016 2015
restated

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

On bank loans, overdrafts and other loans 22,313 22,633 22,375 22,669

Interest on finance leases 54 60 54 60

Notional interest on RCGF balances 245 247 245 247

Less: interest capitalised (2,070) (3,412) (2,070) (3,412)

20,542 19,528 20,604 19,564

Interest payable by the Group and Association includes loan indexation of £52,308 (2015: £51,378). 
The average rate of interest used for capitalisation was 4.95% (2015: 4.62%).

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2016

54



Moat Homes Limited - Financial Statements 2016

10 OTHER FINANCE COSTS
Group Association

2016 2015
restated

2016 2015

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Pension finance costs

Merton and Essex pension schemes 47 51 - -

SHPs pension scheme 99 159 - -

SHPs Growth Plan pension scheme 1 1 - -

147 211 - -

11 SURPLUS BEFORE TAXATION
Group Association

2016 2015
restated

2016 2015
restated

Surplus before tax is stated after charging: £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Depreciation of housing properties (note 3) (14,513) (13,428) (14,506) (13,421)

Depreciation of other fixed assets (note 19) (1,092) (1,010) (1,092) (1,010)

Impairment of housing properties (note 15) 25 902 25 902

Permanent write off of impairment (note 15) 766 - 766 -

Amortisation of government grant (note 3) 5,100 4,970 5,098 4,968

Gain on disposal of current asset sales (note 3) 10,192 4,944 10,192 4,944

Operating lease rentals 113 113 113 113

Auditor’s remuneration:

Audit of financial statements* 83 82 56 65

Audit related assurance advice 17 2 17 2

Services relating to taxation 30 19 18 13

All other services - 9 - 9

*in 2015-16 a higher proportion of group audit fees was allocated to subsidiaries.

12 GIFT AID - ASSOCIATION
2016 2015
£’000 £’000

Gift aid from MHG to MHL - 1,796
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13 TAXATION 

2016 2015
restated

Group £’000 £’000

Current tax:

UK corporation tax 425 165

2016 2015
restated

£’000 £’000

Surplus before tax 38,276 21,083

Current tax at 20% (2015: 21%) 7,655 4,428

Effects of:

Surpluses subject to charitable exemption (7,219) (4,396)

Non taxable income - (10)

Timing differences (7) 143

Adjustment in respect of prior year (4) -

Total current tax charge 425 165

2016 2015
restated

Association £’000 £’000

Current tax:

UK corporation tax (4) 165

2016 2015
restated

£’000 £’000

Surplus before tax 36,094 21,720

Current tax at 20% (2015: 21%) 7,219 4,561

Effects of:

Adjustment in respect of prior year (4) -

Surpluses subject to charitable exemption (7,219) (4,396)

Total current tax (credit)/charge (4) 165

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2016
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14 NUMBER OF HOMES IN MANAGEMENT 

The number of homes in Moat’s management at the year end was:

Group Association

At 31 March 
2016

At 31 March 
2015

At 31 March 
2016

At 31 March 
2015

Social housing

General needs 8,946 8,966 8,943 8,963

Affordable rent 1,251 934 1,251 934

Housing for older people 1,538 1,541 1,538 1,541

Supported housing 252 252 252 252

Shared ownership 4,726 4,574 4,726 4,574

Leasehold properties 1,083 1,057 1,083 1,057

Staff housing 2 2 2 2

Other 6 8 6 8

17,804 17,334 17,801 17,331

Freehold properties 930 922 930 922

Garages 599 594 599 594

19,333 18,850 19,330 18,847

Equity loan properties 1,792 2,054 1,787 2,049

21,125 20,904 21,117 20,896

Non-social housing

Open market rented properties 15 30 7 9

Leasehold properties 15 15 - -

Mariner Facilities Management 78 78 - -

Nursing homes 65 65 65 65

Commercial 23 23 23 23

196 211 95 97

Total 21,321 21,115 21,212 20,993

A further 572 homes were under development at 31 March 2016 (2015: 1,237)
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15 TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS - HOUSING PROPERTIES - GROUP

Rented properties Shared ownership properties

Completed Under 
construction

Completed Under 
construction

Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cost

At 1 April 2015 restated 943,164 59,841 278,807 22,355 1,304,167

Reclassification (803) 175 628 - -

Additions 4,531 43,822 2,383 45,481 96,217

Schemes completed 63,208 (63,208) 32,258 (32,258) -

Transfers to current assets - - 779 (5,632) (4,853)

Disposals (6,830) - (15,448) (7,780) (30,058)

At 31 March 2016 1,003,270 40,630 299,407 22,166 1,365,473

Depreciation

At 1 April 2015 restated (102,861) - (14,945) - (117,806)

Reclassification 48 - (48) - -

Charge in year (11,986) - (1,931) - (13,917)

Released on disposal 2,620 - 518 - 3,138

At 31 March 2016 (112,179) - (16,406) - (128,585)

Impairment

At 1 April 2015 restated (1,789) (780) (779) - (3,348)

Charge in year 113 (414) 326 - 25

Permanent write off to cost 339 - 427 - 766

Disposals 354 - - - 354

At 31 March 2016 (983) (1,194) (26) - (2,203)

Net book value at 31 March 16 890,108 39,436 282,975 22,166 1,234,685

Net book value at 1 April 2015 
restated 838,514 59,061 263,083 22,355 1,183,013

Included within additions in cost of properties is £2,070k (2015: £3,412k) for interest capitalised during the year.
Additions include £5.2m (2015: £6.3m) of replacement of components.

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2016

58



Moat Homes Limited - Financial Statements 2016

15 TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS - HOUSING PROPERTIES - ASSOCIATION

Rented properties Shared ownership properties

Completed Under 
construction

Completed Under 
construction

Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cost

At 1 April 2015 restated 942,691 59,841 278,807 22,355 1,303,694

Reclassification (803) 175 628 - -

Additions 4,531 43,822 2,383 45,481 96,217

Schemes completed 63,208 (63,208) 32,258 (32,258) -

Transfers to current assets - - 779 (5,632) (4,853)

Disposals (6,830) - (15,448) (7,780) (30,058)

At 31 March 2016 1,002,797 40,630 299,407 22,166 1,365,000

Depreciation

At 1 April 2015 restated (102,844) - (14,945) - (117,789)

Reclassification 48 - (48) - -

Charge in year (11,981) - (1,932) - (13,913)

Released on disposal 2,620 - 518 - 3,138

At 31 March 2016 (112,157) - (16,407) - (128,564)

Impairment

At 1 April 2015 restated (1,789) (780) (779) - (3,348)

Charge in year 113 (414) 326 - 25

Permanent write off to cost 339 - 427 - 766

Disposals 354 - - - 354

At 31 March 2016 (983) (1,194) (26) - (2,203)

Net book value at 31 March 16 889,657 39,436 282,974 22,166 1,234,233

Net book value at 1 April 2015 
restated 838,058 59,061 263,083 22,355 1,182,557

Included within additions in cost of properties is £2,070k (2015: £3,412k) for interest capitalised during the year.
Additions include £5.2m (2015: £6.3m) of replacement of components.
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15 TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS - HOUSING PROPERTIES - CONTINUED

Group Association

2016 2015 restated 2016 2015 restated

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Housing properties at cost comprise:

Freeholds 1,335,792 1,269,982 1,335,318 1,269,509

Long leaseholds 28,631 33,135 28,632 33,135

Short leaseholds 1,050 1,050 1,050 1,050

1,365,473 1,304,167 1,365,000 1,303,694

16 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATE - GROUP
During the year MHG sold its minority investment of 33.3% of the share capital in Chrysalis (Stanhope) Holdings 
Limited, realising a surplus of £1.7m (note 5).

The results and the share of net assets in Chrysalis (Stanhope) Limited were as follows. No disclosure has been made 
for 2016 as the investment has been sold:

Profit and loss account 2015

£000

Turnover 427

Cost of sales (449)

Operating loss (22)

Net interest receivable 62

Taxation  (8)

Profit on ordinary activities after taxation 32

Balance sheet 2015

£000

Current assets 9,697

Current liabilities (2,596)

Net current assets 7,101

Creditors (amounts falling due after more than one year) (7,093)

Net assets 8

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2016
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17 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES - ASSOCIATION

Description Country of 
incorporation

% of ordinary 
shares held

Holding 
Company

Investment 
£

Moat Housing Group Ltd Non charitable RP England 100% MHL 4

Moat Homes Finance plc Finance company England 100% MHL 50,000

Moat Foundation Charity England 100% MHL -

Moat Construction Services Ltd Dormant England 100% MHL 1

Moat Development Ltd Dormant England 100% MHG 1

Mariner Facilities Management Ltd Managing agent England 100% MHG 100

50,106

 
MHL has paid £12,500 of the allotted share capital in MHF (2015: £12,500).

18 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 

Group Association

2016 2015 
restated

2016 2015 restated

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Investment properties at 1 April 5,167 5,227 458 458

Property disposals (2,630) (449) - -

Movement in fair value 48 389 - -

Investment properties at 31 March 2,585 5,167 458 458
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19 OTHER TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS - GROUP AND ASSOCIATION

Freehold land 
and buildings

Other Total

£’000 £’000 £’000

Cost

At 1 April 2015 restated 11,324 9,463 20,787

Additions 50 1,397 1,447

Disposals - (67) (67)

At 31 March 2016 11,374 10,793 22,167

Depreciation

At 1 April 2015 restated (1,997) (5,784) (7,781)

Charge for the year (237) (855) (1,092)

Disposals - 65 65

At 31 March 2016 (2,234) (6,574) (8,808)

Net book value at 31 March 2016 9,140 4,219 13,359

Net book value at 1 April 2015 restated 9,327 3,679 13,006

Included within the net book value of Other is an amount of £923k (2015 restated: £1,001k) in respect of assets held under 
a finance lease. These are classed as financial leases as the rental period amounts to the estimated useful life of the asset 
concerned and the assets are either transferred to Moat at the end of the period or sold to Moat for a nominal value.

20 HOUSING STOCK FOR SALE 

Housing stock for sale is the cost of open market sales schemes and the cost attributed to the first tranche element of shared 
ownership schemes. The cost of shared ownership schemes is split between current and fixed assets based on the expected 
percentage of first tranche sales which is currently 25%-35%.

Group Association

2016 2015 2016 2015
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Completed schemes

First tranche sale 2,801 3,578 2,801 3,578

Under construction

First tranche sale 14,760 9,128 14,760 9,128

Open market sale 287 15 - -

17,848 12,721 17,561 12,706

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2016
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21 DEBTORS
Group Association

2016 2015 2016 2015
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Arrears of rent and service charges 5,555 5,198 5,529 5,179

Provision for bad and doubtful debts (2,828) (2,157) (2,828) (2,157)

2,727 3,041 2,701 3,022

Amounts due from Group entities - - - 65

Prepayments and accrued income 7,854 8,987 7,815 8,917

Cash collateral given 22,810 10,430 22,810 10,430

Amounts due from associates - 596 - -

Other debtors 3,072 3,054 1,412 1,125

36,463 26,108 34,738 23,559

22 CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE WITHIN ONE YEAR 

Group Association

2016 2015 restated 2016 2015 restated

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Housing loans (note 23) 4,411 874 4,411 874

Trade creditors 2,340 1,204 2,329 1,204

Owed to other Group entities - day to day - - 8,097 5,936

Owed to other Group entities - arranged - - 12,300 7,050

Recycled capital grant fund (note 25) 10,119 6,505 10,119 6,505

Finance lease liabilities (note 23) 132 122 132 122

Other creditors 7,643 14,772 5,682 13,416

Accruals and deferred income 13,324 15,190 12,452 14,513

37,969 38,667 55,522 49,620
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23 CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE AFTER MORE THAN ONE YEAR 

Group Association

2016 2015 restated 2016 2015 restated
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Housing loans 276,242 257,027 276,242 257,027

Bond issue 150,000 150,000 - -

Government grant - housing properties 472,277 471,061 472,135 470,918

HomeBuy grant 57,386 65,749 57,261 65,624

Owed to other Group entities - - 151,872 151,891

Recycled capital grant fund (note 25) 41,478 37,804 41,478 37,804

Disposal proceeds fund (note 26) 1,103 778 1,103 778

Service charge creditor 2,401 2,269 2,363 2,243

Finance lease liabilities 827 958 827 958

Other creditors 10,014 8,096 - -

1,011,728 993,742 1,003,281 987,243

Housing loans
Housing loans from The Finance for Residential Social Housing plc, The Housing Finance Corporation, The Housing Finance 
Corporation Index Linked, HALOS Limited, Moat Homes Finance plc and certain building societies and banks, are secured by 
fixed charges on the Group’s housing assets and are repayable at variable and fixed rates of interest in the range of 0.76% to 
12.84% (2015: 0.75% to 12.94%) per annum.

Group Association

2016 2015 2016 2015
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Within one year (note 22) 4,411 874 4,411 874

Between one and two years 4,037 4,362 4,037 4,362

Between two and five years 41,798 29,955 41,798 29,955

In more than five years:

Repayable by instalments 231,500 223,847 231,500 223,847

Repayable other than by instalments 150,000 150,000 - -

Other issue costs (1,093) (1,137) (1,093) (1,137)

426,242 407,027 276,242 257,027

Discount on issue of Bond (1,472) (1,500) - -

429,181 406,401 280,653 257,901

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2016
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23 CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE AFTER MORE THAN ONE YEAR 

Group Association

2016 2015 2016 2015
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

The Finance for Residential Social Housing plc 3,996 4,149 3,996 4,149

HALOS Limited 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000

The Housing Finance Corporation 3,500 3,500 3,500 3,500

The Housing Finance Corporation Index Linked 3,650 4,289 3,650 4,289

Banks and building societies 260,600 237,100 260,600 237,100

Moat Homes Finance plc 150,000 150,000 - -

Discount on issue-Bond (1,472) (1,500) - -

Other issue costs (1,093) (1,137) (1,093) (1,137)

429,181 406,401 280,653 257,901

Loan indexation included in housing loans:

At 1 April 3,967 3,916 3,967 3,916

Charged to income and expenditure account and 
included in interest payable 52 51 52 51

At 31 March 4,019 3,967 4,019 3,967

Finance leases

Group Association

2016 2015 restated 2016 2015 restated
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Within one year (note 22) 132 122 132 122

Between one and five years 609 694 609 694

In more than five years 218 264 218 264

959 1,080 959 1,080

Government grant

Group Association

2016 2015 restated 2016 2015 restated
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Social housing grant (SHG) 530,269 524,685 530,121 524,537

Cumulative amortisation of SHG (57,992) (53,624) (57,986) (53,619)

472,277 471,061 472,135 470,918

(CONTINUED)
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24 TOTAL GOVERNMENT GRANT ASSISTANCE
Group Association

Total grant received or receivable to date is as 
follows:

2016 2015 restated 2016 2015 restated
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

SHG on housing properties 530,269 524,685 530,121 524,537

HomeBuy and starter home initiative 57,386 65,749 57,261 65,624

Recycled capital grant fund 51,597 44,309 51,597 44,309

Add: cumulative amount credited to Income and 
Expenditure Account

13,307 13,307 11,588 11,588

652,559 648,050 650,567 646,058

25 RECYCLED CAPITAL GRANT FUND - GROUP AND ASSOCIATION
2016 2015

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 April 44,309 45,122

Inputs to reserve: Grants recycled 12,121 11,781

                            Interest accrued 240 239

12,361 12,020

Withdrawals: New build (5,062) (9,631)

                     Repaid - (3,169)

                     Flexible tenure (11) (33)

(5,073) (12,833)

At 31 March 51,597 44,309

Due for repayment to HCA within 1 year 8,952 5,331

Due for repayment to GLA within 1 year 1,167 1,174

26 DISPOSAL PROCEEDS FUND - GROUP AND ASSOCIATION
2016 2015

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 April 778 1,480

Inputs to reserve: Right to Acquire / 
                            Social HomeBuy sales 520 170

                            Interest accrued 5 7

525 177

Withdrawals:

                      New build (200) (879)

(200) (879)

At 31 March 1,103 778

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2016
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27 OTHER FINANCIAL COMMITMENTS
At 31 March 2016 Moat had minimum future commitments under non-cancellable operating leases as follows:

Land and building lease 
commitments

Other lease commitment

2016 2015 2016 2015 restated
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Operating leases which expire:

Within one year 53 53 11 12

Between one and five years 25 53 36 42

In more than five years - - - 5

78 106 47 59

28 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
Group Association

2016 2015 2016 2015
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Capital expenditure contracted for but not 
provided in the financial statements 122,381 104,064 116,404 104,064

Capital expenditure authorised but not yet 
contracted for 16,686 42,594 11,627 36,438

29 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The carrying value of the Group and Association’s financial assets and liabilities are summarised by category below:

Group Association

2016 2015 restated 2016 2015 restated

Financial assets £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Measured at undiscounted amount receivable:

Amount due from associates (note 21) - 596 - -

Trade and other debtors (note 21) 28,609 16,525 26,923 14,642

28,609 17,121 26,923 14,642
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2016

29 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
Group Association

2016 2015 restated 2016 2015 restated

Financial liabilities £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Measured at fair value and designated as an 
effective hedge

Derivative financial liabilities (note 30) 53,226 50,533 53,226 50,533

Measured at fair value through the surplus 
for the year

Cancellable interest rate swaps 16,571 15,522 16,571 15,522

Ineffective interest rate swaps - 213 - 213

69,797 66,268 69,797 66,268

Measured at amortised cost:

Loans payable (notes 22,23) 280,653 257,901 280,653 257,901

Bond payable (note 23) 150,000 150,000 - -

Obligations under finance leases (notes 22, 23) 958 1,081 958 1,081

Intercompany loans payable (notes 22, 23) - - 164,172 158,941

Measured at undiscounted amount payable:

Trade and other creditors (notes 22, 23) 35,722 41,531 30,923 37,312

537,130 516,781 546,503 521,503

Loans payable include £260.6m (2015: £237.1m) of loans with two way break costs, which are measured at amortised cost. 

Moat Homes Finance Limited (MHF), a wholly owed subsidiary of MHL is a special purpose vehicle used to secure funding for 
Moat. MHF issued a 30 year £150m public bond and has on-lent the full amount to MHL. MHF therefore bears credit risk from 
MHL being unable to make its interest or principal payments when they fall due. This risk for MHF is mitigated as it on-lends 
the funding to MHL under a secured loan agreement, which is backed by housing assets, and MHL’s strong financial position 
as evidenced by its A1 credit rating from Moody’s Investors Service.

The Goup and Association’s income, expense, gains and losses in respect of financial instruments are:

Group Association

2016 2015 restated 2016 2015 restated
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Interest income and expense

Total interest income for financial assets at 
amortised cost 123 216 116 132

Total interest expense for financial liabilities at 
amortised cost (22,367) (22,693) (22,429) (22,729)

Fair value gains and losses

On derivative financial liabilities designated as an 
effective hedge (2,693)  (22,748) (2,693) (22,748)

On financial liabilities measured at fair value 
through surplus for the year (836) (7,204) (836) (7,204)

(25,773) (52,429) (25,842) (52,549)
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30 HEDGING FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - GROUP AND ASSOCIATION
Due within one year Due after one year

2016 2015 restated 2016 2015 restated
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

On derivative financial liabilities designated 
as an effective hedge

Interest rate swaps - - 53,226 50,533

Interest rate swaps are valued at the present value of future cash flows estimated and discounted based on the applicable 
yield curves derived from quoted interest rates.

Cash flow hedges
The following table details the notional principal amounts and the remaining terms of interest rate swap contracts designated 
as cash flow hedges outstanding as at the reporting date:

Average contract fixed
interest rate

Notional principal value Fair value

2016 2015 2016 2015 restated 2016 2015 restated
% % £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

More than 5 years 4.26 4.59 113,000 113,000 53,226 50,533

The interest rate swaps settle on a quarterly basis. The floating rate on the interest rate swaps is three months’ LIBOR. The 
Group settles the difference between the fixed and floating interest rate on a net basis. 

All interest rate swap contracts, except cancellable swaps which are measured at fair value through the surplus for the year, 
exchanging floating rate interest amounts are designated as cash flow hedges. All interest rate swaps reduce the Group’s 
cash flow exposure resulting from variable interest rates on borrowings. The hedged cash flows are expected to occur and to 
affect surplus for the year over the period to maturity of interest rate swaps.

31 CALLED-UP SHARE CAPITAL
Association

2016 2015
£ £

Allotted, issued and fully paid £1 shares

At 1 April 14 17

Cancelled during the year (1) (6)

Issued during the year - 3

13 14

Each of Moat’s non-executive members holds one share of £1 in the Association. These shares confer the right to vote at 
general meetings and are irredeemable, being cancelled on cessation of membership. They do not confer a right to dividends 
or a provision for distribution on a winding-up.
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Deficit contributions
Tier 1
From 1 April 2016 to 
30 September 2020

£40.6m per annum (payable monthly 
and increasing by 4.7% each year on 
1 April)

Tier 2
From 1 April 2016 to 
30 September 2023

£28.6m per annum (payable monthly 
and increasing by 4.7% each year on 
1 April)

Tier 3
From 1 April 2016 to 
30 September 2026

£32.7m per annum (payable monthly 
and increasing by 3.0% each year on 
1 April)

Tier 4
From 1 April 2016 to 
30 September 2026

£31.7m per annum (payable monthly 
and increasing by 3.0% each year on 
1 April)

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2016

32 PENSION OBLIGATIONS

The Pension Trust - Social Housing Pension 
Scheme (SHPS)
MHG participates in the scheme, a multi-employer scheme which 
provides benefits to some 500 non-associated employers. The 
scheme is a defined benefit scheme in the UK. It is not possible for 
MHG to obtain sufficient information to enable it to account for the 
scheme as a defined benefit scheme. Therefore it accounts for the 
scheme as a defined contribution scheme. MHG has closed the 
scheme to new employees.

The scheme is subject to the funding legislation outlined in the 
Pensions Act 2004 which came into force on 30 December 2005. 
This, together with documents issued by the Pensions Regulator 
and Technical Actuarial Standards issued by the Financial 
Reporting Council, set out the framework for funding defined 
benefit occupational pension schemes in the UK.

The scheme is classified as a “last man standing” arrangement. 
Therefore MHG is potentially liable for other participating 
employers’ obligations if those employers are unable to meet their 
share of the scheme deficit following withdrawal from the scheme. 
Participating employers are legally required to meet their share of 
the scheme deficit on an annuity purchase basis on withdrawal 
from the scheme.

A full actuarial valuation for the scheme was carried out with an 
effective date of 30 September 2014. This actuarial valuation was 
certified on 23 November 2015 and showed assets of £3,123m, 
liabilities of £4,446m and a deficit of £1,323m. To eliminate this 
funding shortfall, the trustees and the participating employers have 
agreed that additional contributions will be paid, in combination 
from all employers, to the scheme as follows: 

Note that the scheme’s previous valuation was carried out with 
an effective date of 30 September 2011; this valuation was 
certified on 17 December 2012 and showed assets of £2,062m, 
liabilities of £3,097m and a deficit of £1,035m. To eliminate this 
funding shortfall, payments consisted of Tier 1, 2 and 3 deficit 
contributions.

Where the scheme is in deficit and where the company has agreed 
to a deficit funding arrangement, MHG recognises a liability for 
this obligation. The amount recognised is the net present value of 
the deficit reduction contributions payable under the agreement 
that relates to the deficit. The present value is calculated using the 
discount rate detailed in these disclosures. The unwinding of the 
discount rate is recognised as a finance cost. 

The Pension Trust – The Growth Plan
MHG participates in the scheme, a multi-employer scheme which 
provides benefits to some 1,300 non-associated employers. The 
scheme is a defined benefit scheme in the UK. It is not possible for 
MHG to obtain sufficient information to enable it to account for the 
scheme as a defined benefit scheme. Therefore it accounts for the 
scheme as a defined contribution scheme. MHG has closed the 
scheme to new employees.

The scheme is subject to the funding legislation outlined in the 
Pensions Act 2004 which came into force on 30 December 2005. 
This, together with documents issued by the Pensions Regulator 
and Technical Actuarial Standards issued by the Financial 
Reporting Council, set out the framework for funding defined 
benefit occupational pension schemes in the UK.

The scheme is classified as a “last man standing” arrangement. 
Therefore MHG is potentially liable for other participating 
employers’ obligations if those employers are unable to meet their 
share of the scheme deficit following withdrawal from the scheme. 
Participating employers are legally required to meet their share of 
the scheme deficit on an annuity purchase basis on withdrawal 
from the scheme.

A full actuarial valuation for the scheme was carried out with an 
effective date of 30 September 2011. This valuation showed 
assets of £780m, liabilities of £928m and a deficit of £148m. 
To eliminate this funding shortfall, the trustees have asked the 
participating employers to pay additional contributions to the 
scheme as follows: 

Deficit contributions
From 1 April 2013 to 
31 March 2023

£13.9m per annum (payable monthly 
and increasing by 3% each year on 
1 April)
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A full actuarial valuation for the scheme was carried out with an 
effective date of 30 September 2014. This valuation showed 
assets of £793m, liabilities of £970m and a deficit of £177m. 
To eliminate this funding shortfall, the trustees have asked the 
participating employers to pay additional contributions to the 
scheme as follows: 

Deficit contributions
From 1 April 2016 to 
30 September 2025

£12,945,440 per annum (payable 
monthly and increasing by 3% each 
year on 1 April)

From 1 April 2016 to 
30 September 2028

£54,650 per annum (payable monthly 
and increasing by 3% each year on 
1 April)

The recovery plan contributions are allocated to each participating 
employer in line with their estimated share of the Series 1 and 
Series 2 scheme liabilities.

Where the scheme is in deficit and where the company has agreed 
to a deficit funding arrangement, MHG recognises a liability for 
this obligation. The amount recognised is the net present value of 
the deficit reduction contributions payable under the agreement 
that relates to the deficit. The present value is calculated using the 
discount rate detailed in these disclosures. The unwinding of the 
discount rate is recognised as a finance cost. 
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2016

32 PENSION OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED)
The Growth plan SHPS

2016 2015 restated 2016 2015 restated
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Present value of provision 67 64 7,707 5,448

The Growth plan SHPS

2016 2015 restated 2016 2015 restated

Reconciliation of opening and closing provisions: £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Provision at start of year 65 68 5,449 5,555

Unwinding of the discount factor (interest expense) 1 1 99 159

Deficit contribution paid (8) (8) (567) (546)

Remeasurements:

Impact of any change in assumptions (1) 3 (51) 280

Amendments to contribution schedule 10 - 2,777 -

Provision at end of year 67 64 7,707 5,448

The Growth plan SHPS

2016 2015 restated 2016 2015 restated

Income and expenditure impact: £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Interest expense 1 1 99 159

Remeasurements:

    Impact of any change in assumptions (1) 3 (51) 280

    Amendments to contribution schedule 10 - 2,777 -

Contributions paid in respect of future service - - 61 70

Costs recognised in surplus for the year 10 4 2,886 509

The Growth plan SHPS

2016 2015 restated 2016 2015 restated

Assumptions: % per annum % per annum % per annum % per annum

Rate of discount 2.07 1.74 2.06 1.92

The discount rates shown above are the equivalent single discount rates which, when used to discount the future recovery 
plan contributions due, would give the same results as using a full AA corporate bond yield curve to discount the same 
recovery plan contributions.
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Defined Contribution Schemes 
MHG also participates in the defined contribution scheme with 
SHPS. The total expense charged to surplus for the year in the 
period ended 31 March 2016 was £588k (2015: £377k). This 
scheme is open to all new employees and current employees also 
have the opportunity to switch into this scheme.

MHG also participates in the Aviva defined contribution scheme. 
The total expense charged to surplus for the year in the period 
ended 31 March 2016 was £244k (2015: £147k). This scheme is 
closed to new employees.

London Borough of Merton and Essex County 
Council Pension schemes
MHG provides two smaller pension schemes under the Local 
Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) to its employees. Both 
schemes are defined benefit statutory schemes. A defined benefit 
scheme is a pension plan that defines an amount of pension 
benefit that an employee will receive on retirement, dependent 
upon on one or more factors such as age, years of service 
and compensation. These schemes have been closed to new 
employees.

The schemes have rules which specify the benefits to be paid and 
are financed accordingly with assets being held in independently 
administered funds. A full actuarial valuation of each scheme is 
carried out every three years with interim reviews in the intervening 
years.

The last full actuarial valuations were conducted as at 31 March 
2013 by independent, qualified actuaries, Barnett Waddingham for 
both schemes, using the projected unit credit method. The next 
actuarial valuations of the Funds will be carried out as at 31 March 
2016 and will set contributions for the period from 1 April 2017 to 
31 March 2020.

To assess the value of the Employers’ liabilities at 31 March 
2016, Barnett Waddingham have rolled forward the value of the 
Employers’ liabilities calculated for the funding valuations as at 31 
March 2013, using financial assumptions that comply with FRS 
102. To calculate the asset share, they have rolled forward the 
assets allocated to MHG at 31 March 2013 allowing for investment 
returns (estimated where necessary), contributions paid into, and 
estimated benefits paid from, the Fund by and in respect of MHG 
and its employees.

The valuation uses a set of demographic assumptions that are 
consistent with those used for the most recent Fund valuation, 
carried out as at 31 March 2013.

Essex 
Pension 

Fund

Essex 
Pension 

Fund

Merton 
Pension

Fund

Merton 
Pension

Fund

2016 2015 2016 2015

The assumed life expectations from age 65 are: Years Years Years Years

Retiring today

Males 22.9 22.8 22.5 22.4

Females 25.3 25.2 25.8 25.7

Retiring in 20 years

Males 25.2 25.1 24.8 24.6

Females 27.7 27.6 28.1 28.0

73



Moat Homes Limited - Financial Statements 2016

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2016

32 PENSION OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED)
The financial assumptions, set with reference to market conditions at 31 March 2016, used to calculate the results are as 
follows:

Essex 
Pension 

Fund

Essex 
Pension 

Fund

Merton 
Pension

Fund

Merton 
Pension

Fund

2016 2015 2016 2015

Assumptions as at 31 March: % pa % pa % pa % pa

RPI increases 3.2% 3.2% 3.2% 3.1%

CPI increases 2.3% 2.3% 2.3% 2.3%

Salary increases 4.1% 4.1% n/a n/a

Pension increases 2.3% 2.3% 2.3% 2.3%

Discount rate 3.6% 3.3% 3.5% 3.2%

The expected return on assets is the discount rate.
 
Movements in deficit are as follows:

Essex 
Pension

Fund

Essex 
Pension 

Fund

Merton 
Pension

Fund

Merton 
Pension

Fund

Total Total

2016 2015 
restated

2016 2015
restated

2016 2015
restated

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Deficit brought forward (680) (665) (748) (535) (1,428) (1,200)

Remeasurement of 
the net assets/(defined 
liability)

104 (67) 77 (204) 181 (271)

Amounts recognised in 
surplus for the year

(35) (37) (25) (24) (60) (61)

Contributions paid 7 89 15 15 22 104

Deficit carried forward (604) (680) (681) (748) (1,285) (1,428)

Amounts recognised in the surplus for the year are as follows:

Essex 
Pension

Fund

Essex 
Pension

Fund

Merton 
Pension

Fund

Merton 
Pension

Fund

Total Total

2016 2015 
restated

2016 2015
restated

2016 2015
restated

Service cost (11) (8) - - (11) (8)

Net interest on defined 
liability

(23) (28) (24) (23) (47) (51)

Administration expenses (1) (1) (1) (1) (2) (2)

Total (35) (37) (25) (24) (60) (61)
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The amount included in the statement of financial position arising from obligations from these defined benefit schemes is as 
follows:

Essex 
Pension

Fund

Essex 
Pension 

Fund

Merton 
Pension

Fund

Merton 
Pension

Fund

Total Total

Net pension asset 
as at 31 March:

2016 2015 
restated

2016 2015
restated

2016 2015
restated

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Present value of defined 
benefit obligation

(2,439) (2,541) (2,172) (2,257) (4,611) (4,798)

Fair value of Fund assets 
(bid value)

1,835 1,861 1,491 1,509 3,326 3,370

Deficit (604) (680) (681) (748) (1,285) (1,428)

Movements in the present value of the defined benefit obligation:

Essex 
Pension

Fund

Essex 
Pension

Fund

Merton 
Pension

Fund

Merton 
Pension

Fund

2016 2015
restated

2016 2015
restated

Movement in the present value of the scheme: £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Opening defined benefit contribution (2,541) (2,275) (2,257) (1,978)

Current service cost (11) (8) - -

Interest cost (83) (99) (72) (85)

Change in financial  assumptions 120 (228) 112 (277)

Estimated benefits paid net of transfers in 81 74 45 83

Contributions by scheme participants (5) (5) - -

(2,439) (2,541) (2,172) (2,257)
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2016

32 PENSION OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED)
Movements in the fair value of scheme assets were as follows:

Essex 
Pension 

Fund

Essex 
Pension 

Fund

Merton 
Pension

Fund

Merton 
Pension

Fund

2016 2015 2016 2015

Movement in the fair value of the scheme: £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Opening fair value of Fund assets (1,861) (1,610) (1,509) (1,443)

Interest on assets (60) (71) (48) (62)

Return on assets less interest 16 (156) 35 (73)

Other actuarial gains/losses - (5) - -

Administration expenses 1 1 1 1

Contributions by employer including unfunded (7) (89) (15) (15)

Contributions by Fund participants (5) (5) - -

Estimated benefits paid plus unfunded net of transfers in 81 74 45 83

(1,835) (1,861) (1,491) (1,509)

The total return on the Essex Pension Fund assets for the year to 31 March 2016 is £44,000. 
The total return on the Merton Pension Fund assets for the year to 31 March 2016 is £13,000.

The analysis of the scheme assets at reporting date was as follows:

Essex Pension Fund 2016 2016 2015 2015

Employer asset share - bid value £’000 % £’000 %

Equities 1,241 68% 1,252 67%

Gilts 54 3% 82 4%

Other bonds 88 5% 178 10%

Property 219 12% 202 11%

Cash 60 3% 41 2%

Alternative assets 82 4% 106 6%

Other managed funds 91 5% - -

1,835 100% 1,861 100%

Merton Pension Fund 2016 2016 2015 2015

Employer asset share - bid value £’000 % £’000 %

Equities 1,047 70% 1,092 72%

Gilts 351 24% 363 24%

Property 47 3% 43 3%

Cash 46 3% 11 1%

1,491 100% 1,509 100%
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33 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

34 STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS - GROUP
Reconciliation of surplus for the year to cash generated from operations:

2016 2015 restated

£’000 £’000

Surplus for the year 37,851 20,918

Adjustments for non-cash items

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 11,810 11,310

Amortisation of government grants (4,368) (4,654)

Impairment of tangible fixed assets (25) 797

Decrease in investments 2,590 60

(Increase)/decrease in stock (5,126) 1,275

(Increase) in debtors (10,356) (2,944)

Increase in creditors, excluding loans and grants 6,033 903

Capital accruals (3,498) (718)

Cost of tangible fixed asset disposals 36,580 11,469

Pension costs less contributions payable 38 (43)

Movement in fair value of financial instruments 836 7,204

Adjustments for investing or financing activities:

Proceeds from sales of tangible fixed assets (33,805) (30,072)

Interest payable 22,350 22,871

Interest receivable (123) (216)

Additional cash collateral paid 12,380 9,020

Cash generated from operations 73,167 47,180

MHG has been notified by the Pensions Trust of the estimated employer debt on withdrawal from the Social Housing Pension 
Scheme based on the financial position of the Scheme as at 30 September 2015. As of this date the estimated employer debt 
for MHG was £46.7m (2015: £42.6m).

MHG has been notified by the Pensions Trust of the estimated employer debt on withdrawal from the Growth Plan based on 
the financial position of the Growth Plan as at 30 September 2015. As of this date the estimated employer debt for MHG was 
£133k (2015: £148k).
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35 TRANSITION TO FRS 102 AND PRIOR YEAR ADJUSTMENT

31 March 2015 1 April 2014

Group - Restated Statement of Financial Position Note £’000 £’000

Original capital and reserves under UK GAAP 291,947 265,349

Adoption of FRS 102

Pensions - past service deficit (Creditors within 1 year) a (575) (554)

Pensions - past service deficit (Creditors after 1 year) a (4,937) (5,069)

Investment properties - revaluation (Revaluation reserve) b (284)

Investment properties - revaluation (Income and expenditure) b 715 431

Government grant - reclassification (Housing properties) c 528,594 518,163

Government grant - reclassification (Creditors after 1 year) c (528,594) (518,163)

Amortisation of government grant (Creditors after 1 year) c 53,937 48,968

Depreciation (Housing properties) c (31,845) (28,694)

HomeBuy grant reclassification (Investments) d 65,749 74,738

HomeBuy grant reclassification (Creditors after 1 year) d (65,749) (74,738)

Employee annual leave accrual (Creditors within 1 year) e (319) (319)

Movement in fair value of financial instruments f (15,735) (8,531)

Movement in fair value of hedged financial instruments f (50,533) (27,785)

Finance leases g (80) (115)

Prior year adjustment

MyChoiceHomeBuy refund 36 (4,030) (3,320)

Restated capital and reserves 238,261 240,361

Moat has adopted FRS 102 for the year ended 31 March 
2016 and has restated the comparative prior year amounts. 
Explanation of changes previously reported as surplus and 
reserves:
a) Where there is an agreement to fund multi-employer 
pension scheme deficits a liability is now recognised for the  
contributions payable that arise from the agreement in the 
Statement of financial position and the resulting income/ 
expense is recognised in the surplus for the year. 
b) All movements on the revaluation of investment properties 
are taken through surplus for the year under FRS 102 rather 
than the statement of recognised surpluses and deficits. 
Previously increases in the valuation were held in a revaluation 
reserve.
c) Government grant is now presented separately from 
housing properties as deferred income within creditors due 
within or after one year. The accrual model for accounting for 
government grants amortises the grant over the estimated 
life of its associated property. When grant was included in 
housing properties it was apportioned between the land 
and building  components and only the portion allocated 
to buildings was amortised. Total grant is now amortised. 

Depreciation was  previously shown net of amortisation of 
government grant. 
d) HomeBuy loans meet the definition of a public benefit 
entity concessionary loan. The grant attached to the loan is 
now treated as government grant received in advance and 
included as deferred income within creditors. Previously it 
was shown in investments.
e) Employee annual leave accrual – holiday accrued but not 
taken/holiday taken but not accrued is now recognised as an 
accrual or a prepayment.
f) Interest rate swaps which are used to reduce interest rate 
exposure are measured at fair value. Where swaps meet 
hedging requirements under FRS 102 the movement in fair 
value is shown in other comprehensive income, where they 
are deemed to be ineffective hedges the movement in fair 
value is shown in the surplus for the year.
g) There has been a reclassification of leases from operating 
leases to finance leases.
h) Change in disclosure of pension finance costs.
i) All employee related costs including pension costs are 
reimbursed by MHL.

78



Moat Homes Limited - Financial Statements 2016

35 TRANSITION TO FRS 102 AND PRIOR YEAR ADJUSTMENT
Group - Restated surplus for the year ended 31 March 2015 Note £’000

Original surplus for the year ended 31 March 2015 26,637

Adoption of FRS 102

Amortisation of government grant (Turnover) c 4,969

Depreciation of housing properties (Operating costs) c (3,027)

Pensions - past service deficit (Operating costs) a 270

Pensions - administration costs (Operating costs) h (2)

Investment properties - revaluation - reclassification (Operating costs) b (105)

Investment properties - revaluation - reclassification 
(Movement in fair value of investments)

b 105

Investment properties - revaluation - (Movement in fair value of investments) b 284

Pensions - interest (Interest and other financing costs) h (211)

Finance lease depreciation (Operating costs) g (78)

Finance lease adjustment (Operating costs) g 174

Finance lease interest (Interest and other finance costs) g (60)

Change in fair value of financial instruments f (7,204)

Gain/loss on sale of fixed assets c (124)

Prior year adjustment

MyChoiceHomeBuy refund 36 (710)

Restated surplus for the year ended 31 March 2015 20,918

31 March 2015 1 April 2014

Association - Restated statement of financial position Note £’000 £’000

Original capital and reserves under UK GAAP 279,976 252,630

Adoption of FRS 102

Investment properties - revaluation (Income and expenditure) b 431 431

Government grant - reclassification (Housing properties) c 528,448 518,016

Government grant - reclassification (Creditors after 1 year) c (528,448) (518,016)

Amortisation of government grant (Creditors after 1 year) c 53,620 48,966

Depreciation (Housing properties) c (31,530) (28,693)

HomeBuy grant reclassification (Investments) d 65,624 74,228

HomeBuy grant reclassification (Creditors after 1 year) d (65,624) (74,228)

Movement in fair value of financial instruments f (15,735) (8,531)

Movement in fair value of hedged financial instruments f (50,533) (27,785)

Finance leases g (80) (115)

Transfer FRS 102 employee costs from MHG to MHL i (5,671) (5,942)

Prior year adjustment

MyChoiceHomeBuy refund 36 (4,030) (3,320)

Restated capital and reserves 226,448 227,641
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35 TRANSITION TO FRS 102 AND PRIOR YEAR ADJUSTMENT
Association - Restated surplus for the year ended 31 March 2015 Note £’000

Original surplus for the year ended 31 March 2015 27,345

Adoption of FRS 102

Amortisation of government grant (Turnover) c 4,968

Depreciation of housing properties (Operating costs) c (3,026)

Finance lease depreciation (Operating costs) g (78)

Finance lease adjustment (Operating costs) g 174

Finance lease interest (Interest and other finance costs) g (60)

Change in fair value of financial instruments f (7,204)

Gain/loss on sale of fixed assets c (124)

Transfer FRS 102 employee costs from MHG to MHL i 270

Prior year adjustment

MyChoiceHomeBuy refund 36 (710)

Restated surplus for the year ended 31 March 2015 21,555

36 PRIOR YEAR ADJUSTMENT
The Association has offered subsidised loans to customers to purchase properties through the My Choice Homebuy scheme, 
which was set up in 2008. The loans were primarily funded by Social Housing Grant. The Association was a member of a 
consortium of eight housing associations all of which operated My Choice Homebuy in a similar manner. Under the terms 
of the Consumer Credit Act 1974 the Association corresponds with those borrowing and provides a suite of notices and 
statements. This correspondence is required to be in a form specified in the Consumer Credit (Information Requirements and 
Duration of Licences and Charges) Regulations 2007. 

In the event that the notices and statements are not substantially in the prescribed form, amongst other effects, any interest 
payable on a customer’s account is no longer payable for as long as the notices and statements are non-compliant. During 
the year the consortium were advised that these notices and statements had not been compliant and accordingly that interest 
had not been validly charged in previous periods. Customers affected have been advised and the non-compliance has been 
rectified with effect from 30 November 2015. Refunds of interest have been made to customers from whom this has been 
incorrectly collected and as this was a correction of a material error relating to prior periods the impact has been recognised 
as a prior year adjustment.

The total cost of the interest incorrectly collected was £4.5m. The retained reserves at 31 March 2014 have been restated by 
£3.3m and the surplus for the year to 31 March 2015 has been reduced by £710k. The £486k balance of the interest refund 
relates to the current year. With effect from 30 November 2015 when the non-compliance was rectified, the Association has 
resumed charging interest. 

37 ACCOMMODATION MANAGED BY OTHERS
We have 95 (2015: 95) bed spaces in our registered care homes and 226 supported units (2015: 226) which were managed 
on behalf of Moat under management agreements by other organisations. These other organisations contract with Supporting 
People Administering Authorities and carry the financial risk relating to the supported housing homes and bed spaces.
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38 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
As at 31 March 2016, no Committee members were Moat residents (2015: 4). Their tenancy or lease agreements were 
granted on the same terms as for all other residents of the Association and housing management procedures, including those 
relating to the management of arrears, have been applied consistently.

As at 31 March 2016, there were no Board and Committee members that were councillors or employees of a related public or 
commercial entity (2015: none).

All intra-group transactions have taken place in the normal course of business.  There are no other related party transactions 
requiring disclosure other than the disclosures required by the Accounting Direction for private registered providers of social 
housing from April 2015. 

39 ANALYSIS OF INTRA GROUP TRANSACTIONS BETWEEN REGULATED AND NON 
REGULATED ENTITIES
Moat consists of MHL and MHG which are both registered providers of social housing; MDL, MCS which are both dormant; 
MHF which is a special purpose vehicle set up to raise funds through a bond issue; MF, a registered charity and MFM which 
provides managing agent services.

MHL intra-group transactions with MHF:
MHF obtains finance directly from capital markets and on lends to MHL. The on-lent funding to MHL is under a secured loan 
agreement, which is backed by housing assets of MHL. If there are any payments which are not made to MHF, then it has the 
right to enforce the security under the loan. During the year MHL paid £7.5m to MHF in interest payments. At 31 March 2016, 
MHL owed MHF £151.9m (2015: £151.9m).

MHL/MHG intra-group transactions with MFM:
• MHG provides funding to its subsidiary MFM in the form of a loan arranged at an arms length market rate of £150,000 

(2015: £75,000). MFM paid £3,403 to MHG as interest on the loan.
• MHG increased its investment in MFM by £17,000 in 2015-16. 
• At 31 March 2016 MHL owed MFM £88,909 (2015: MFM owed MHL £64,564) and MHG owed MFM £16,953 relating to 

day-to-day operations.
• MHL paid £13,372 (2015: £12,697) in managing agent fees.
• MHL provides facilities and staff resources to MFM for which it charged £29,000 (2015: £21,000).

MHL intra-group transactions with MF:
MHL provides management and administration services to MF in the form of the supply of staff and the use of the facilities but 
does not charge as these are deemed to be insignificant. During the year MHL donated £80,000 (2015: £35,000) to MF.

40 LEGISLATIVE AUTHORITY
The names of all Group members are set out in note 17. Moat Homes Limited is regarded by the Board as the ultimate parent 
undertaking of the Group.

Moat Homes Limited and Moat Housing Group Limited are incorporated under the Co-operative and Community Benefits 
Societies Act 2014. Moat Development Limited, Mariner Facilities Management Limited, Moat Homes Finance plc, Moat 
Construction Services Limited and Moat Foundation are incorporated under the Companies Act 2006. Moat Foundation is 
also a registered charity under the charities commission. In addition Moat Homes Limited and Moat Housing Group Limited 
are Registered Providers.
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Moat
Mariner House 
Galleon Boulevard 
Crossways, Dartford
Kent DA2 6QE
0300 323 0011 
moat.co.uk
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